
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Turner-Smedley

AGENDA May 18, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Turner-Smedley

Presentation Tennessee Wildlife Resource Agency (TWRA) Report on Deer at Nature Park - Ben Layton.

Minutes Recessed Meeting - April 27, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - April 27, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - May 4, 2016

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report December 2015 - January and February 2016

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon May 9, 2016

Res. No. 516-23 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, and oath of Deputy Sheriff.

Res. No. 516-24 A Resolution to confirm the reappointment of one (1) member to the Sheriff’s Civil Service
Advisory Board for a three (3) year term, beginning May 18, 2016 and ending May 18, 2019.

Res. No. 516-25 A Resolution approving the expenditure of up to Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
($2,500.00) from discretionary bond funds (as allotted to District Nine) to assist with the
purchase of a sound system for Ooltewah Middle School.

Res. No. 516-26 A Resolution making an appropriation to Chattanooga Inner City Youth Association in the
amount of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Four.

Res. No. 516-27 A Resolution making an appropriation to Orchard Knob Neighborhood Watch Association in the
amount of Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Four.

Res. No. 516-28 A Resolution approving the expenditure of up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) from
discretionary bond funds as allotted to District Seven to purchase a flag pole for East Hamilton
Middle High school.

Res. No. 516-29 A Resolution approving the expenditure of two thousand eight hundred dollars ($2,800.00) from
discretionary bond funds as allotted to District Three, to assist in the cost of reconditioning the
running track at Big Ridge Elementary School.

Res. No. 516-30 A Resolution to adjust petit juror pay to $10.00 per day and reallocate $3.00 of the previously
authorized $13.00 per day towards the direct payment of petit juror parking fees by Hamilton
County with no increase in the General Fund Budget.

Res. No. 516-31 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to enter into and execute an "Offer to Purchase"
relative to Tract 4 of the Enterprise South Industrial Park and authorizing the County Mayor to
execute a deed and other necessary closing documents conveying said property to the
purchaser listed hereinbelow upon payment of the sale price by the purchaser.

Res. No. 516-32 A Resolution accepting the bid of Talley Construction Company, Inc. for the Daisy Elementary
access road amounting to $554,368.78 for the Engineering Department and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-33 A Resolution accepting the bids of School Specialty, Inc., Virco, Inc., Interior Elements, LLC,
School Outfitters, and Ernie Morris Enterprises for contract unit pricing, beginning May 18, 2016,
through December 31, 2016, for school furnishings for Middle Valley, Nolan and Wolftever
Elementary Schools and any additional schools needing furniture for the Hamilton County
Department of Education and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.



Res. No. 516-34 A Resolution accepting the bid of the Southeastern Communications Services, Inc. for the
installation, termination, testing, programming and certification of an Apogee Sound System at
Middle Valley Elementary School for the Telecommunications Office amounting to $37,400.00
and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-35 A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for part of a property located at 1196
Jackson Mill Drive for a Residential Planned Unit Development.

Res. No. 516-36A A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern
Drive, 7677 Peppertree Drive and 8830 Green Gap Road for Residential Planned Unit
Development.

Res. No. 516-36B A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern
Drive, 7677 Peppertree Drive and 8830 Green Gap Road for Residential Planned Unit
Development.

Res. No. 516-37 A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
of property located at 7201 Hixson Pike.

Res. No. 516-38 A Resolution approving the purchase of Glock guns amounting to $85,890.00 from Craig’s
Firearm Supply, Inc. from the State Contract for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-39 A Resolution accepting the bid of Nichols Fleet Equipment, Inc. for one (1) articulating crane
system amounting to $34,695.00 for the Highway Department and authorizing the County Mayor
to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-40 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee
Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, the Health Services Division, operating
as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for the July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2019
contract period, in an amount not to exceed $1,040,300.00 to provide TENNderCare Outreach
Program services.

Res. No. 516-41 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a continued subcontract agreements with the Partnership for Families, Children and Adults,
Inc. and Signal Centers Inc. beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2017, to provide Title
XX social services for eligible individuals and families amounting to $338,037.00.

Res. No. 516-42 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of
$312,900.00 to provide Tuberculosis Controls Services  in Hamilton County for a time period of
July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017.

Res. No. 516-43 A Resolution accepting the bid of Indus International, Inc. for one (1) large planetary book
scanner amounting to $31,010.00 for the Microfilm Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-44 A Resolution approving the purchase of Cisco equipment amounting to $49,129.04 from
Pomeroy IT Solutions Sales Company, Inc. from the State Contract for the Information
Technology  Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-45 A Resolution accepting the bids of Integrated Networking Technologies, LLC dba INTEC,
Convergint Technologies, and Central Technologies, Inc. for contract unit pricing for Avigilon
camera equipment for the period of May 18, 2016, through May 17, 2017, for the
Telecommunications Department and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 516-46 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of April 1, 2016,
through April 30, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.



ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 27, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 27th day of April, 2016, a Recessed Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd introduced Pastor Sonny D. Wilkes, Sr., Dividing Ridge 

Church of God, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Boyd led in the pledge to the 

flag. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

2 
 

PRESENTATION - DISTINGUISHED VISITOR AWARD – BRAD RATLIFF 

  

Chairman Bankston and Commissioner Smedley presented a Distinguished 

Visitor Award to Brad Ratliff, who was elected President of the 2017 Tournament of 

Roses. Mr. Ratliff was present to receive the award with his wife, Susan, Ooltewah High 

School Principal Jim Jarvis, and band director Joel Denton and his wife, Kerry.  They 

thanked him for his enthusiasm for the Association and commended him for the 

example he has set for all who have had the privilege to work with him. Mr. Ratliff will 

provide leadership for the 128th Rose Parade and the 103rd Rose Bowl Game. Mr. Ratliff 

has been a volunteer member of the Pasadena Tournament of Roses since 1988 and 

was appointed chairman in 2004 and director in 2007. 

 

Mr. Denton thanked Chairman Bankston and Commissioner Smedley for 

honoring President Ratliff during his visit. He reported that the Ooltewah High School 

band will be traveling in December to participate in the 2017 Tournament of Roses of 

Parade in Pasadena, California, which is considered a very prestigious event. He noted 

that it was an honor to be considered for participation among the best bands in the 

nation.  

 

Principal Jarvis noted that this honor is quite a testament to Mr. Denton and the 

students in the Ooltewah High School band. He noted that Mr. Ratliff could not have 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

3 
 

made a better choice in selecting the band to represent Tennessee and Hamilton 

County.  

 

Mr. Ratliff thanked Chairman Bankston and Commissioner Smedley for today’s 

recognition. He commended Mr. Denton’s 35 years of work developing future leaders in 

Hamilton County.  

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke about attending Ooltewah High School band’s Spring 

Concert on Tuesday night. He commended Mr. Denton and Principal Jarvis on the 

behavior and the discipline displayed by the students. He noted that discipline and good 

behavior is a result of their good leadership. He thanked Mr. Ratliff for inviting the band 

to join the parade in January.  

 

Commissioner Mackey echoed Mayor Coppinger’s sentiments. In response to 

Commissioner Mackey’s question concerning the use of discretionary funds to help 

finance the band’s trip to Pasadena, Commissioner Smedley referred to a previously 

referenced opinion by the Office of the Comptroller for the State of Tennessee, which 

prohibits Commissioners from using discretionary funds for Department of Education 

related items.  

  

 At this time Mr. Ratliff, Mr. Denton, and Principal Jarvis shook hands with the 

Mayor and Commission.  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

4 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 416-26A A RESOLUTION TO APPROPRIATE $300,000 TO THE 

CRIMINAL COURT CLERK FUND TO ASSIST THE OFFICE IN FUNDING ITS 

OPERATIONS AND TO AMEND THE GENERAL FUND OPERATING BUDGET BY 

ADDING $300,000 TO EXPENDITURES FROM PREVIOUSLY UNBUDGETED 

FUNDS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution No. 416-26A. 

 

It was noted that this resolution, previously known as Resolution No. 416-26, was 

heard as a Committee of the Whole during the April 13, 2016 Agenda Session and 

postponed at the April 20th, 2016 Regular Meeting.  

 

During last week’s regular meeting, Commissioner Haynes reported that he 

received new information in the form of a letter from Criminal Court Clerk Vince Dean. A 

copy of Mr. Dean’s letter was filed with the Clerk’s office on April 20th, 2016.  

 

Commissioner Boyd addressed several points contained in the letter. He 

disagreed with Mr. Dean’s statement in the letter calling the situation a revenue shortfall 

rather than a mismanagement or budgetary issue. He explained there was no indication 

to the Commission that a $300,000 shortfall existed in the 2015-2016 budget submitted 

by the Criminal Court Clerk’s office. Commissioner Boyd spoke about a discrepancy in 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

5 
 

the figure that he sent to Commissioners in the form of a text message regarding the 

average salaries of employees in the Criminal Court Clerk’s office, and the figure that 

Mr. Dean presented in his letter. He noted that his figure was calculating salaries plus 

benefits. He questioned if Mr. Dean considered an 8% employee payroll decrease 

across the board, which would have resulted in a $300,000 savings for the office.  

 

Mr. Dean responded to the 8% reduction question by answering no.  As to 

Commissioner Boyd’s other comments and questions Clerk Dean reported that his 

office is currently below the 2015-2016 budget initially submitted to the Commission, 

and the current deficit is due to a shortfall in revenue. He added that he sent the letter 

last week to shed some light on the discussion that was taking place through texts 

between Commissioners regarding his budget. He noted that employees in his office 

average 15 years of service with an average salary of $42,000, not including benefits. 

He noted that he has a highly trained staff, and overtime has been reduced from the 

budget although part of his office is a 24/7 operation.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Dean explained that his office 

was asking for the appropriation on the front end of the upcoming budget cycle rather 

than waiting until the end.  

 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 

6 
 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 27, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 27th day of April, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston.  Total present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 2 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

• The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee Reports for March 2016 would be 
submitted for the record. 

• A list of Uncollected Delinquent Taxes for the 2014 Levy would be submitted for 
the record. 

• The Criminal Court Clerk’s Report for February and March 2016 would be 
submitted for the record. 

• The quarterly Investment report of Hamilton County Government, for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2016, for Hamilton County, Tennessee, was submitted as a 
matter of record. 

• Quarterly Fee Office reports, for the quarter ending March 31, 2016 would be 
submitted for the record. 

• Resolution No. 516-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• Resolution Nos. 516-2 through 516-14 were heard by a Committee of the Whole. 
• Resolution Nos. 516-15 through 516-20 were assigned to the Finance 

Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd. 
 
  

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 516-2 through 516-14 would now 

be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-2 

 

This Resolution reappoints Bruce O’Neal to the Hamilton County Health and 

Safety Hearing Board for a term beginning May 4, 2016 and ending May 4, 2018.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 3 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-3 

 

County Attorney Rheubin Taylor spoke regarding this item, which accepts the 

proposals of McGuireWoods, LLP and Chambliss, Bahner, & Stophel, P.C. for legal 

services relating to the future correctional facility operations and assets as authorized 

by Resolution Nos. 815-22 and 116-11. He added that County advisors suggested they 

seek outside legal counsel experienced in drafting and negotiating contract and financial 

agreements relative to public-private partnerships, as well as knowledge of Tennessee 

state and local laws. He noted that total legal expenses are not expected to exceed 

$250,000.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, Attorney Taylor confirmed that 

McGuireWoods, LLP is proficient in the area of public-private partnerships. He noted he 

would share the information he has compiled on the firm with Commissioner Fields.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked Attorney Taylor and Mayor Coppinger and the 

staff for working diligently on this project. He added that he would be supporting this 

item next week.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 4 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-4 

 

 Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $2,500.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 5, to Raising the Bar 

Empowerment Center. It was noted that this was a recommendation from the United 

Community Action Alliance, the community organization started by Commissioner Beck 

to gain public input on how to use discretionary monies. The funds will be used to assist 

with a community event to provide support for inner city youth.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-5 

  

 Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this item, which approves the expenditure 

of up to $6,620.00 from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to District 5, to assist with 

the purchase of a television and library books for Lakeside Elementary School.   

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 5 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-6 

 

 Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $2,500.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 5, to Independent Youth 

Services Foundation, Inc. It was noted that this was a recommendation from the United 

Community Action Alliance and the funds will be used to assist with a scholarships to 

provide support for inner city youth.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-7 

  

  Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $2,000.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 4, to Harrison 

Recreational Booster Club. It was noted that the funds will assist with programs 

designed to strengthen and engage children, as well as reduce violence in the 

community.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 6 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-8 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $2,000.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 4, to United Methodist 

Neighborhood Centers, Inc. dba The Bethlehem Center of Chattanooga, Inc. It was 

noted that the funds will assist with programs designed to strengthen and engage 

children, as well as reduce violence in the community. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-9 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $3,000.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 4, to Lakeside Youth 

Association. It was noted that the funds will assist with team support and programs 

designed to strengthen and engage children, as well as reduce violence in the 

community. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 7 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-10 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $2,000.00 

from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District 4, to Links Foundation, 

Inc. It was noted that the funds will assist with programs designed to strengthen and 

engage children, as well as reduce violence in the community. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-11 

 

 This Resolution accepts the highest and best bid for certain parcels of property 

acquired by Hamilton County through previous delinquent tax sales and authorizing the 

County Mayor to enter into and execute deeds conveying said parcels to individuals 

making those bids.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 8 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-12 

 

 Todd Leamon, Administrator of Public Works, spoke regarding this item, which 

authorizes the County Mayor to execute a quitclaim deed and sign any closing 

documents to convey certain property owned jointly by Hamilton County and the City of 

Chattanooga to the Tennessee Valley Railroad Museum (TVRM), a Tennessee 

501(c)(3) non-profit corporation. It was noted that six properties have been requested. 

He added that Miller & Martin attorney Allen McCallie was present on behalf of the 

TVRM, as well as Hamilton County Real Property Manager Paul Parker.  

 

 Mr. McCallie explained that there are six properties, all located within the same 

East Chattanooga neighborhood as the museum headquarters off Chamberlain Avenue. 

The properties were jointly acquired by Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga 

through delinquent tax sales. He noted that this is an opportunity to reclaim these 

properties and make something good out of them.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fields question, Mr. McCallie reported that all the 

properties are vacant land with the exception of an abandoned residence on one of the 

properties. He explained that the TVRM would be responsible for the cleanup of the 

properties. He added that certain obligations existed within the deed that require the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 9 

property to be used for non-profit purposes with cultural and historical significance. It 

was noted that there is no reversionary clause within the deed.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Real Property Manager Paul 

Parker confirmed that a majority of the properties are vacant properties with a select few 

containing abandoned structures.   

 

 In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question regarding the tax impact of the 

TVRM yearly, Mr. McCallie explained that the six properties up for discussion are small 

pieces of land. He reported that the TVRM is a large economic engine with a large 

annual budget, a great number of jobs, and brings in hundreds of thousands of dollars 

in tourism each year. He noted that taking land off the property tax roll for public parks 

or other developments might show a decrease in property taxes, but property values 

around the land are dramatically increased. He used the properties surrounding 

Coolidge Park, Renaissance Park, and the Market Street Bridge as examples of the 

increases in property values.  

 

 Commissioner Mackey reported that a similar boost in property values happened 

in the Jefferson Heights neighborhood off Main Street on the Southside of Chattanooga. 

He added that he will be supporting this item next week.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 10 

 Commissioner Graham thanked Mr. McCallie for the many different parks and 

preservation projects that he works on. He noted that the TVRM brings in a lot of 

tourists and tax dollars to the community, as well as serves to improve the quality of life 

in the area.   

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-13 

 

 This Resolution approves the entering into an agreement between the Hamilton 

County Board of Education and Tower Assets Newco IX, LLC for the lease of a tract of 

land at East Ridge High School. The land will be used for the erection of a cellular 

phone tower over a twenty-five year initial period. 

 

It was noted that this resolution, previously known as Resolution No. 416-28, was 

heard as a Committee of the Whole during the April 13, 2016 Agenda Session and 

postponed at the April 20th, 2016 Regular Meeting.  

 

Commissioner Boyd reported that East Ridge Mayor Brent Lambert and the East 

Ridge City Council have been put on notice that the Commission will be voting on this 

item next week. It was noted that he personally asked for their position regarding this 

item by next Tuesday, and will report back to the Commission before the vote.   

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 11 

Commissioner Mackey stated that he will be following Commissioner Boyd’s lead 

in regards to this item.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 516-14 

 

 Attorney Taylor spoke regarding this item, which approves allowing Hamilton 

County employees to make beneficiary designations for the receipt of any earned 

accumulated leave and final payroll check upon the death of the employee. He noted 

that currently a check is made payable to the estate of the employee upon their death, 

but this has caused probate problems for some family members. The item will allow the 

employee to designate to whom they wish to receive the check.  

 

 Commissioner Graham reported that he will be supporting this item.  

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

today’s Agenda Session. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 12 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Several Commissioners remembered this day 5 years ago when the community, 

particularly the Apison area, was devastated by a series of tornados that killed eight 

people and left countless others wounded and homeless. They thanked County Trustee 

Bill Hullander for the memorial service he organized last Saturday to honor the victims. 

More than 300 people attended the service. It was noted that Trustee Hullander had 

relatives killed in the storm.   

 

Commissioner Haynes reminded members of the Commission and audience that 

Hamilton County has a Property Tax Relief program in place for low income seniors or 

disabled homeowners, and disable veteran homeowners.  

 

Commissioner Graham welcomed his son and daughter in law, as well as his 16-

month-old granddaughter to today’s meeting.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 13 

Commissioner Boyd announced that the community meeting regarding the Water 

and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA) has been rescheduled for April 28th at 

6:30 pm at the Red Bank Community Center.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced a school facilities meeting with the 

Department of Education and Commission will take place Tuesday, May 10th at 6:00 pm 

at the Department of Education located at 3074 Hickory Valley Road in Chattanooga. 

She also commended the Mayor’s staff for their hard work and complimented the quick 

response time any time she has questions. She specifically thanked Administrator of 

Public Works and County Engineer Todd Leamon, Director of Engineering John Agan, 

and Highway Department Director Ben Wilson.  

 

Mayor Coppinger announced the next budget workshop will take place on May 

3rd at 9:00 am at the McDaniel Building. He thanked Commissioners for participating in 

the last workshop.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 27, 2016 
 
 

 14 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, May 4th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  May 4, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 4th day of May, 2016, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Haynes, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8. Total absent – 1. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Commissioner Fairbanks would be absent for 

today’s meeting. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

2 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 

Commissioner Smedley introduced Pastor Susanne Alexander, Spiritual 

Assembly of the Baha’s, who gave the invocation and Ron Tucker, Association of 

Realtors, who led in the pledge to the flag. She announced that today was Mr. Tucker’s 

birthday and wished him a happy birthday. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Fields, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of April 13, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of April 13, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of April 20, 2016, be approved, treat 

same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. 

Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

3 

 

TRUSTEE REPORTS 

  

The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee reports for March 2016 were submitted 

as a matter of record. 

 

TRUSTEE UNCOLLECTED DELINQUENT PROPERTY TAXES REPORT 

 

 The Trustee’s annual Uncollected Delinquent Property Tax report for the 2014 

levy was submitted as a matter or record. 

 

CRIMINAL COURT CLERK’S REPORTS 

  

The Criminal Court Clerk’s reports for February and March 2016 were submitted 

as a matter of record. 

 

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT 

  

The quarterly investment report of Hamilton County, for the quarter ending March 

31, 2016 was submitted as a matter of record. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

4 

 

FEE OFFICE REPORTS 

  

 Fee reports for the following constitutional officers were submitted and made a 

matter of record: 

 Clerk and Master – January 2016 through March 2016 
 Circuit Court Clerk – January 2016 through March 2016 
 Register of Deeds – January 2016 through March 2016 
 County Clerk – January 2016 through March 2016 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-1 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATHS OF DEPUTY COUNTY CLERKS, 

AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-1. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

5 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 516-2 through 516-14 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-2 A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH AND SAFETY HEARING BOARD BEGINNING MAY 

4, 2016 AND ENDING MAY 4, 2018. 

  

 This resolution reappoints Bruce O’Neal. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-2. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-3 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSALS OF 

MCGUIREWOODS, LLP AND CHAMBLISS, BAHNER & STOPHEL, P.C. FOR 

LEGAL SERVICES RELATING TO THE FUTURE CORRECTIONAL FACILITY 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

6 

 

OPERATIONS AND ASSETS, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

EXECUTE ALL CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-3. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-4 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

RAISING THE BAR EMPOWERMENT CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-5 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP 

TO SIX THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED TWENTY DOLLARS ($6,620.00) FROM 

DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE) TO ASSIST 

WITH THE PURCHASE OF A TELEVISION AND LIBRARY BOOKS FOR LAKESIDE 

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

7 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-6 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

INDEPENDENT YOUTH SERVICES FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-4 and 516-6. The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously 

adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission 

being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” 

votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-5. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

8 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-7 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HARRISON RECREATIONAL BOOSTER CLUB IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-8 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

UNITED METHODIST NEIGHBORHOOD CENTERS, INC. D/B/A THE BETHLEHEM 

CENTER OF CHATTANOOGA, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS 

ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-9 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

LAKESIDE YOUTH ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($3,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS 

ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-10 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

LINKS FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 

DISTRICT FOUR. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

9 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 516-7 through 516-10. The foregoing Resolutions were adopted 

on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being 

present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-11 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE HIGHEST AND BEST 

BID FOR CERTAIN PARCELS OF PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY HAMILTON COUNTY 

THROUGH PREVIOUS DELINQUENT TAX SALES AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE DEEDS CONVEYING SAID 

PARCELS TO INDIVIDUALS LISTED HEREIN BELOW.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-11. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

10 

 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-12 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A QUITCLAIM DEED AND TO SIGN ANY CLOSING DOCUMENTS 

NECESSARY TO CONVEY CERTAIN PROPERTY OWNED JOINTLY BY HAMILTON 

COUNTY AND THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA TO THE TENNESSEE VALLEY 

RAILROAD MUSEUM, A TENNESSEE 501 (C)(3) NONPROFIT CORPORATION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-12.  

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes’ question, Chairman Bankston stated that 

to his knowledge City Council had not voted on the matter. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-13 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ENTERING INTO A 

LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF 

EDUCATION AND TOWER ASSETS NEWCO IX, LLC, OF CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY OWNED BY THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 

THE ERECTION OF A CELL TOWER, AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF 

SAID LEASE (PREVIOUSLY RES. NO. 416-28). 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-13.  

 

It was noted that this resolution, previously known as Resolution No. 416-28, was 

heard as a Committee of the Whole during the April 13, 2016 Agenda Session, 

postponed at the April 20th, 2016 Regular Meeting, and heard as a Committee of the 

Whole during the April 27th, 2016 Agenda Session. 

 

Commissioner Boyd reported that the East Ridge City Council supported 

proceeding with the cell tower proposal with the understanding that it must come back 

to the Council for final review. The council also made the recommendation to use the 

proceeds from the tower for building a new football stadium at East Ridge High School.  

 

He noted that many of his constituents including School Board Member David 

Testerman, former School Board Chairman Mike Evatt, East Ridge elected officials, and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

12 

 

East Ridge High School Alumni Association are in support of redirecting revenues to 

build a new football stadium.  

 

At this time, members of the audience stood in support of the proposed 

amendment. Commissioner Boyd acknowledged that Bobby Hudgens, Class of 1974 

and President of the East Ridge High School Alumni Association was one of the 

individuals standing. He also noted that the Alumni Association wrote a letter in support 

of redirecting the revenues to build a new football stadium. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey to 

amend Resolution No. 516-13 to redirect the revenues to build a new football stadium at 

East Ridge High School. 

 

Attorney Taylor stated that any changes made to the agreement will need to go 

back to the Board of Education for approval. 

 

Justin Witt, Director of Maintenance and Operations for the Hamilton County 

Department of Education noted that if approved this resolution will get the cell tower 

company started on installations. 

 

Commissioner Graham noted that if the resolution was adopted as is, the 

commission would not have any recourse to redirect the monies to build a stadium. He 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

13 

 

recommended the commission consider postponing the resolution to allow for further 

negotiations with the school board. 

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Attorney Taylor confirmed that a 

motion to divide the question was an alternative. However, any changes made to the 

original agreement would need to be approved by the Board of Education. 

 

Commissioner Fields pointed out the resolution title states that the lease 

agreement is between the Hamilton County Board of Education and Tower Assets 

Newco IX, LLC regarding real property owned by the Hamilton County Board of 

Education. He stated that he would not be supporting the proposed amendment and 

questioned if the commission had the authority to do so. He reiterated that the lease 

agreement is between the Department of Education and the cell tower company, not the 

Hamilton County Commission. 

 

Commissioner Boyd referenced the attached lease agreement and noted that it 

has been fully executed. He acknowledged Commissioner Fields’ statements and 

reiterated his constituent’s desires to redirect the monies to build a new stadium. 

 

Albert Kiser, Administrator of Finance reminded the commission that the 

Hamilton County Department of Education cannot issue debt; the county would have to 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

14 

 

issue the debt. The cell tower revenues would need to be sent back to the county to 

service said debt. 

 

Commissioner Boyd stated that if the commission cannot agree to the lease as 

its written, then the resolution should be postponed again. If the Board of Education 

rejects the proposed amended then the commission will have to vote on the resolution 

as is. He pointed out that East Ridge City Mayor and Councilman Larry Sewell have 

indicated that if the Board of Education rejects the proposed amendment they will not be 

supporting the erection of the cell tower. 

 

Commissioner Beck agreed to postponing the resolution and discussing the 

proposed amendment at next Tuesday’s school facilities meeting with the Department 

of Education and Commission, 6 pm at the Department of Education. 

 

Mr. Witt clarified that the lease agreement doesn’t specify how the money is to be 

spent.  

 

Commissioner Graham agreed with postponing the resolution and looks forward 

to further discussion.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, Attorney Taylor clarified that a 

Motion to Postpone supersedes a Motion to Amend. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

15 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Smedley to 

postpone Resolution No. 516-13 until the May 11, 2016 Recessed Meeting.  

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” 

votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-14 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ALLOWANCE OF 

HAMILTON COUNTY EMPLOYEES TO MAKE BENEFICIARY(IES) DESIGNATIONS 

FOR THE RECEIPT OF EMPLOYEES' EARNED ACCUMULATED LEAVE AND 

FINAL PAYROLL CHECK UPON THE DEATH OF THE EMPLOYEE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-14. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

16 

 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

LATE ITEM 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-21 A RESOLUTION RE-APPOINTING TWO (2) JUDICIAL 

COMMISSIONERS FOR A ONE (1) YEAR TERM, COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016, AND 

EXPIRING APRIL 30, 2017; DESIGNATING A CHIEF JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER TO 

SERVE FOR A SIX (6) MONTH TERM; AND ESTABLISHING THE COMPENSATION 

TO BE RECEIVED BY EACH DURING THEIR RESPECTIVE TERM(S) IN OFFICE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-21. 

 

Several Commissioners questioned the proper process for appointing the Chief 

Judicial Commissioner.  

 

Attorney Taylor reported that the resolution was prepared as directed and 

clarified that the resolution (1) reappoints Sharetta T. Smith and Randall L. Russell as 

Judicial Commissioner for a one year term and (2) designates Randall L. Russell as the 

Chief Judicial Commissioner for a six month term.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

17 

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, Attorney Taylor clarified that in the 

past the selection of the Chief Judicial Commissioner was by nomination from any 

Commissioner.  

 

Several Commissioners noted that although the outcome may be the same as 

the original resolution, the Commission needs to follow previously established protocol 

in accepting nominations to fill the position prior to approval of the resolution making the 

appointment.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

divide the question to vote on (1) the retention of Randall L. Russell and Sharetta T. 

Smith for a one year term and (2) a separate resolution to vote on Chief Judicial 

Commissioner nominations made by commissioners; designating either a 6 month or 1 

year term depending on who is appointed. 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Chairman Bankston reported 

that he was not aware of any other Judicial Commissioner who is interested in Chief 

Judicial Commissioner. 

  

The foregoing Motion to divide the question was unanimously adopted on a Roll 

Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

18 

 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent 

– 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston clarified that the motion to divide the question was adopted 

and now a motion and second is needed to reappoint Sharetta T. Smith and Randall L. 

Russell as Judicial Commissioners for a one year term, expiring April 30, 2017. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-21 as divided to reappoint Randall L. Russell and Sharetta T. 

Smith for a one year term. 

 

The foregoing Motion to adopt was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

19 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

open the floor for nominations and vote on Chief Judicial Commissioner. 

 

In response to Chairman Bankston’s question, Attorney Taylor confirmed that 

Randall L. Russell is the Chief Judicial Commissioner and his term ended April 30, 

2016. However, he will continue to serve as Chief Judicial Commissioner until his 

successor is appointed or he is reappointed. If the Commission wished to postpone this 

appointment to allow other judicial commissioners to express interest in serving as Chief 

Judicial Magistrate, that would be in order. 

 

In response to Attorney Taylor’s comments, Commissioner Fields withdrew his 

motion to open the floor for nominations. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to table 

the appointment of the Chief Judicial Commissioner part of Resolution No. 516-21 until 

the May 11, 2016 Recessed Meeting. 

 

The foregoing Motion to Table was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Fairbanks was absent. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

20 

 

Commissioner Mackey was not present for the Roll Call. Total present – 7. Total absent 

– 2. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston noted that postponing the resolution will allow time for 

Judicial Commissioners who may be interested in Chief Judicial Commissioner to get 

their name in the pot. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 516-15 through 516-20 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-15 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

AMMUNITION AMOUNTING TO $52,250.00 FROM GULF STATES DISTRIBUTORS 

FROM THE STATE CONTRACT FOR THE SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 515-16 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF D-PATRICK, 

INC. FOR ONE (1) MID- SIZE SEDAN AMOUNTING TO $18,650.00 FOR THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY FELONY COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS PROGRAM AND TO 

AMEND THE COUNTY EXPENDITURE BUDGET OF THE CORRECTIONS 

DEPARTMENT BY $18,650.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

21 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-17 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A CONTRACT IN THE AMOUNT OF $188,799.05 WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY COURTS 

COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAM WITH A CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 

01, 2016 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2017. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-18 A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SOFTWARE SUPPORT 

AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT FROM ESRI, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR, 

BEGINNING JUNE 9, 2016, THROUGH JUNE 8, 2017, FOR THE GEOGRAPHIC 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS DEPARTMENT AMOUNTING TO $74,878.68 AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-19 A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF MARCH 1, 2016, THROUGH 

MARCH 31, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 516-20 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF 

COMMUNICATIONS RESOURCES, INC. FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 

BEGINNING MAY 6, 2016, THROUGH MAY 5, 2017, FOR SHORETEL TELEPHONE 

EQUIPMENT FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

22 

 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 516-15 through 516-20 and stated that the Finance 

Committee recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 516-15, 516-17 through 516-20. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Chairman Fairbanks was absent. Total 

present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 516-16.  

 

Lee Norris, Director of General Services clarified that the Tennessee Department 

of Correction Grants will reimburse the county one hundred percent, the mid-size sedan 

is a replacement vehicle, and there will be no additional costs incurred. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

23 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  

Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Chairman 

Fairbanks was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked fellow commissioners for supporting his 

constituents and postponing Resolution No. 516-13. 

 

Commissioner Smedley announced a school facilities meeting with the 

Department of Education and Commission will take place Tuesday, May 10th at 6:00 pm 

at the Department of Education located at 3074 Hickory Valley Road in Chattanooga. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

MAY 4, 2016 
 

24 

 

Mayor Coppinger announced the next budget workshop will take place on May 

12th at 9:00 am at the McDaniel Building. He thanked Commissioners for participating in 

the last workshop.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, May 11, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 
 











No. 516-23 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATH OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFF. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled “OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF” 
has taken the oath of office. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 



 

 

 
3. That the person named on the listing labeled “OATH OF DEPUTY SHERIFF” 

is accepted and the oath therefor is approved as taken; and  
 

 4. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 

























No. 516-24 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE REAPPOINTMENT OF ONE (1) MEMBER TO 
THE SHERIFF’S CIVIL SERVICE ADVISORY BOARD FOR A THREE (3) YEAR 
TERM, BEGINNING MAY 18, 2016 AND ENDING MAY 18, 2019. 
 
 
WHEREAS, T.C.A. Section 8-8-404 provides for the creation of a Sheriff’s Civil 

Service Advisory Board composed of three (3) members selected by 
the County legislative body; and 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 401-38 specifies the manner in which the appointments 

will be made; and  
 
WHEREAS, the current appointment from Districts 1, 2, and 3 expired on May 

15, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commissioners from Districts 1, 2, and 3 wish to reappoint 

William Pippin for a three year term to the Sheriff’s Civil Service 
Advisory Board. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That William Pippin is hereby reappointed to the Sheriff’s Civil Service Advisory Board 
for a term beginning May 18, 2016 and ending May 18, 2019. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
  

 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 516-25 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP TO TWO THOUSAND FIVE 
HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED 
TO DISTRICT NINE) TO ASSIST WITH THE PURCHASE OF A SOUND SYSTEM FOR 
OOLTEWAH MIDDLE SCHOOL. 
 
WHEREAS, there is a need for a sound system at Ooltewah Middle School; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston desires to use up to Two Thousand Five Hundred 

Dollars ($2,500.00) from discretionary bond funds to assist with the purchase of said 
sound system; and 

 
WHEREAS, this expenditure has been approved by the Hamilton County Board of Education; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of up to Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from discretionary 
bond funds, as allotted to District Nine, be approved to assist with the purchase of a sound system for 
Ooltewah Middle School. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 516-26 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO CHATTANOOGA INNER CITY YOUTH 
ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand Dollars 

($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Chattanooga Inner City Youth 
Association to assist with programming; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Chattanooga Inner City Youth Association to assist with programming. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 516-27 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO ORCHARD KNOB NEIGHBORHOOD 
WATCH ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,000.00) 
FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate Three Thousand 

Dollars ($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Orchard Knob 
Neighborhood Watch Association to assist with community programming; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Orchard Knob Neighborhood Watch Association to assist with community programming. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 516-28 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP TO TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2,000.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SEVEN TO 
PURCHASE A FLAG POLE FOR EAST HAMILTON MIDDLE HIGH SCHOOL. 
 
WHEREAS, East Hamilton Middle High School has a need for a flagpole; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Sabrena Smedley has expressed a desire to use up to two thousand dollars 

($2,000.00) from discretionary bond funds to purchase said flagpole; and 
 
WHEREAS, the purchase has been approved by the Hamilton County Board of Education; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) from discretionary bond funds, as 
allotted to District Seven, be approved to purchase a flagpole for East Hamilton Middle High School. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 516-29 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED 
DOLLARS ($2,800.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT 
THREE, TO ASSIST IN THE COST OF RECONDITIONING THE RUNNING TRACK AT BIG 
RIDGE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL. 
 
WHEREAS, the running track at Big Ridge Elementary School has recently been reconditioned; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Marty Haynes has expressed a desire to use two thousand eight hundred 

dollars ($2,800.00) from discretionary bond funds assist in the cost of having said 
running track reconditioned; and 

 
WHEREAS, this allocation has been approved by the Hamilton County Board of Education; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of two thousand eight hundred dollars ($2,800.00) from discretionary bond funds 
as allotted to District Three be approved to assist in the cost of reconditioning the running track at Big 
Ridge Elementary School. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 516-30 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ADJUST PETIT JUROR PAY TO $10.00 PER DAY AND REALLOCATE 
$3.00 OF THE PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED $13.00 PER DAY TOWARDS THE DIRECT 
PAYMENT OF PETIT JUROR PARKING FEES BY HAMILTON COUNTY WITH NO INCREASE 
IN THE GENERAL FUND BUDGET. 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution 196-16 approved the increase in pay from $10.00 per day to $13.00 per 

day; and 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Chapter No. 98 of the Private Acts of  1989, the Hamilton County 

Commission may adjust the rate of pay for serving as a juror in Hamilton County; 
and  

 
WHEREAS,  currently petit jurors in Hamilton County pay out of pocket for $4.00 of the current 

parking fee and Hamilton County pays the remainder of the parking fee; and  
 
WHEREAS, feedback from petit jurors in Hamilton County indicate that this is inconvenient and 

causes a hardship during their service; and 
 
WHEREAS, after consideration of compensation of petite jurors in other counties of the state and 

feedback from local jurors, the Office of the Circuit Court Clerk recommends the 
reallocation of a portion of the daily petit juror rate be reduced in order to fully fund 
and validate parking for petit jurors; and 

 
WHEREAS, there is no change required to any budget to implement this resolution.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IS SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the petit juror pay be reduced by $3.00 and monies reallocated so as to validate daily parking 
during jury service effective June 1, 2016. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 516-31 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE 
AN "OFFER TO PURCHASE" RELATIVE TO TRACT 4 OF THE ENTERPRISE SOUTH 
INDUSTRIAL PARK AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A DEED 
AND OTHER NECESSARY CLOSING DOCUMENTS CONVEYING SAID PROPERTY TO THE 
PURCHASER LISTED HEREINBELOW UPON PAYMENT OF THE SALE PRICE BY THE 
PURCHASER. 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga jointly own certain property 

identified as part of State Tax Map No. 130-001 (part of) also known as part of 
Enterprise South Industrial Park; and,  

 
WHEREAS, a proposal has been presented in which TAG Manufacturing, Inc. desires to 

purchase 18.8 acres (more or less subject to survey) known as Tract 4 of the 
Enterprise South Industrial Park for $40,000 per acre ($752,000); and, 

 
WHEREAS, an “Offer to Purchase” and proposal have been presented by said purchaser, in 

accordance with the attached or similar documents; and, 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Hamilton County to accept said offer for the continued 

economic growth of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into and execute the attached or similar “Offer to 
Purchase” relative to Tract 4 of the Enterprise South Industrial Park and that the County Mayor is 
hereby authorized to execute a deed and other necessary closing documents conveying said property to 
the purchaser listed below upon payment of the sale price, less costs of closing. 
 
   LOT NUMBER                ACREAGE                               PURCHASER                   SALE PRICE 
         Tract 4               18.8 acres (more or less)         TAG Manufacturing, Inc.   $752,000 
                                      (subject to survey)                            or assigns 
                        
 



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 

























No. 516-32 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF TALLEY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, 
INC. FOR THE DAISY ELEMENTARY ACCESS ROAD AMOUNTING TO $554,368.78 
FOR THE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for the Daisy 

Elementary access road for the Engineering Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Talley Construction Company, Inc. amounting to $554,368.78 

was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Talley Construction Company, Inc. for the Daisy Elementary access road 
amounting to $554,368.78 for the Engineering Department is hereby accepted, said bid being 
the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 516-33 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF SCHOOL SPECIALTY, INC., VIRCO, INC., 
INTERIOR ELEMENTS, LLC, SCHOOL OUTFITTERS, AND ERNIE MORRIS ENTERPRISES 
FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING MAY 18, 2016, THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 
2016, FOR SCHOOL FURNISHINGS FOR MIDDLE VALLEY, NOLAN AND WOLFTEVER 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AND ANY ADDITIONAL SCHOOLS NEEDING FURNITURE FOR 
THE HAMILTON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract pricing for school 

furnishings for the Hamilton County Department of Education; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids of School Specialty, Inc., Virco, Inc., Interior Elements, LLC, School 

Outfitters, and Ernie Morris Enterprises  were considered to be the lowest and best bids 
received; and,  

 
WHEREAS,  there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of School Specialty, Inc., Virco, Inc., Interior Elements, LLC, School Outfitters, and 
Ernie Morris Enterprises for contract pricing, beginning  May 18, 2016, through December 31, 2016, 
for school furnishings for Middle Valley, Nolan, and Wolftever Elementary Schools and any additional 
schools needing furniture for the Hamilton County Department of Education are hereby accepted, said 
bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































































No. 516-34 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF THE SOUTHEASTERN COMMUNICATIONS 
SERVICES, INC. FOR THE INSTALLATION, TERMINATION, TESTING, PROGRAMMING 
AND CERTIFICATION OF AN APOGEE SOUND SYSTEM AT MIDDLE VALLEY 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS OFFICE AMOUNTING TO 
$37,400.00 AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for an Apogee Sound System 

for Middle Valley Elementary School for the Telecommunications Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Southeastern Communications Services, Inc. for $37,400.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Southeastern Communications Services, Inc. for the installation, termination, testing, 
programming, and certification of an Apogee Sound System for Middle Valley  Elementary School for 
the Telecommunications Office amounting to $37,400.00 is hereby accepted, and authorizing the 
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































































No. 516-35 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-057) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR PART OF A PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1196 JACKSON MILL 

DRIVE FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for part of a property located at 1196 Jackson Mill 
Drive for a Residential Planned Unit Development, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell requested that the County Commission consider said petition and 
notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County 
Commission will hold a public hearing on May 18, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit for part of a property located at 1196 Jackson Mill Drive for a Residential 
Planned Unit Development.  Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 1196 Jackson Mill Drive and 
being part of the property described in Deed Book 9375, Page 677, ROHC.  Tax Map 092-063 (part) as 
shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 516-36A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-058) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 7623 SWEET FERN DRIVE, 7677 

PEPPERTREE DRIVE AND 8830 GREEN GAP ROAD FOR 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern Drive, 
7677 Peppertree Drive and 8830 Green Gap Road for a Residential Planned Unit Development, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell requested that the County Commission consider said petition and 
notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County 
Commission will hold a public hearing on May 18, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit for properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern Drive, 7677 Peppertree Drive and 
8830 Green Gap Road for a Residential Planned Unit Development.  Part of an unplatted tract of land 
located at 8830 Green Gap Road and Lots 277 and 278 McKenzie Farm Revised Phase 1, Plat Book 
92, Page 151, ROHC, being part of the property described in Deed Book 9531, Page 617 and Part of 
Tract 4, Deed Book 8950, Page 126, ROHC.  Tax Map 114-084 (part), 114G-D-005 and 114G-C-011 
as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 516-36B 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-058) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 7623 SWEET FERN DRIVE, 7677 

PEPPERTREE DRIVE AND 8830 GREEN GAP ROAD FOR 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern Drive, 
7677 Peppertree Drive and 8830 Green Gap Road for a Residential Planned Unit Development, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell requested that the County Commission consider said petition and 
notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County 
Commission will hold a public hearing on May 18, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended, subject to 
Peppertree Drive being for emergency access only, granting a Special Exceptions Permit for 
properties located at 7623 Sweet Fern Drive, 7677 Peppertree Drive and 8830 Green Gap Road for a 
Residential Planned Unit Development.  Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 8830 Green Gap 
Road and Lots 277 and 278 McKenzie Farm Revised Phase 1, Plat Book 92, Page 151, ROHC, being 
part of the property described in Deed Book 9531, Page 617 and Part of Tract 4, Deed Book 8950, 
Page 126, ROHC.  Tax Map 114-084 (part), 114G-D-005 and 114G-C-011 as shown on the attached 
map. 
 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 516-37 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-059) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7201 HIXSON PIKE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of 
property located at 7201 Hixson Pike, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that 
this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell requested that the County Commission consider said petition and 
notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County 
Commission will hold a public hearing on May 18, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as 
required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of property located at 7201 
Hixson Pike.  Tract A, Final Plat Stonewall Farm Subdivision, Plat Book 72, 176, ROHC, Deed Book 
9087, Page 190, ROHC.  Tax Map 092-063.04 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 516-38 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF GLOCK GUNS AMOUNTING TO 
$85,890.00 FROM CRAIG’S FIREARM SUPPLY, INC. FROM THE STATE CONTRACT 
FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Craig’s Firearm Supply, Inc. for two-hundred-ten (210) 

Glock guns with three (3) magazines each and backstrap kit from the State 
Contract/SWC-357 amounting to $85,890.00 for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the amount of $85,890.00 is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the purchase of Glock guns for the Sheriff’s Office amounting to $85,890.00 from 
Craig’s Firearm Supply, Inc. from the State Contract is hereby approved, being the best and 
most economical source, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





No. 516-39 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF NICHOLS FLEET EQUIPMENT, INC. FOR 
ONE (1) ARTICULATING CRANE SYSTEM AMOUNTING TO $34,695.00 FOR THE 
HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) articulating 

crane system for the Highway Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Nichols Fleet Equipment, Inc. amounting to $34,695.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Nichols Fleet Equipment, Inc. for one (1) articulating crane system amounting 
to $34,695.00 for the Highway Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and 
best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 































No. 516-40 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT 
WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE 
HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT, FOR THE JULY 1, 2016 – JUNE 30, 2019 CONTRACT PERIOD, IN AN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $1,040,300.00 TO PROVIDE TENNDERCARE OUTREACH PROGRAM 
SERVICES. 
 
WHEREAS,  the TennCare Bureau has contracted with the Tennessee Department of  Health to  
   implement a statewide TENNderCare Outreach Program in order to come into  
   compliance with a Federal Consent Decree; and 

 
WHEREAS, services must include, but not be limited to: community outreach, home visits, 

personal contact via phone and mail, and meetings of the Advisory Committee; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State is providing $38,000.00 year one as designated additional funds for the 

Welcome Baby Program which is to provide outreach to high risk infants and their 
families in Hamilton County in order to prevent and reduce the number of infant 
deaths through early identification and referrals to address their needs (one year only).
                                       

WHEREAS,  the State has agreed to provide $1,040,300.00 for the provision of these Outreach  
   Services; and  
 
WHEREAS, this program and services is for the health and well-being of the TennCare children 

and adolescents of Hamilton County. 
     
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
   That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract 
                                           for the contract period of July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2019 in an 

amount not to exceed $1,040,300.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

i 

 

 
 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2016 June 30, 2019 34360-33817       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga – Hamilton County Health Department  4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 93.505 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end  June 30, 2019  

Service Caption (one line only) 

TennCare Kids Outreach Services  

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2017       $38,000 $334,100       $372,100 

2018             $334,100       $334,100 

2019             $334,100       $334,100 

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:       $38,000 $1,002,300  $1,040,300 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection 
 

 Non-competitive Selection 
The TennCare Kids Program provides outreach to TennCare enrolled children and  
families regarding the benefits of EPSDT as outlined in the contract ID-14-37040 with  
the Bureau of TennCare. 

 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00008100/ 
HL00016443 71301000  

 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

1 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH   
AND 

CHATTANOOGA- HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT    
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Health, 
hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Chattanooga – Hamilton County 
Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of TennCare Kids 
Outreach Services, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID # 4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definition. 
  
 “EPSDT” means Early Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment.  
 
A.3. Service Goals. The TennCare Kids Program provides outreach to TennCare enrolled children and 

families regarding the benefits of EPSDT as outlined in the contract ID-14-37040 with the Bureau 
of TennCare. 

 
A.4.  Service Recipients.  Service recipients are TennCare eligible families with children under the age 

of 21 and special target populations including but not limited to children with special healthcare 
needs, persons with limited English proficiency, homeless women and children and pregnant 
women (including pregnant adolescents).  

 
A.5. Service Description.  
 
 The Grantee shall: 

 
a. Participate in the TennCare Kids Call Center component of the State’s TennCare Kids 

Outreach program by allowing the call center to schedule appointments at the health 
department clinics. 

 
b. Develop and maintain a biennial TennCare Kids Community Outreach Plan submit a final 

draft to the State in accordance with established guidelines. 
 
c. Evaluate approved TennCare Kids Community Outreach Plan annually utilizing the State 

approved evaluation tool.  
 
d. Conduct all community outreach activities outlined in the Grantee TennCare Kids Community 

Outreach Plan and any plan amendments submitted to and approved by the State. 
 
e. Conduct community focused outreach activities to specific target populations as identified in 

the Community Outreach Plan and submit any plan amendments approved by the State. 
 
f. Conduct community outreach activities designed to reach pre-teen, teen, and young adult 

populations.  
 
g. Provide dedicated staff for community outreach in Hamilton County as delineated in its most 

current approved TennCare Kids Community Outreach Plan and any plan amendments 



1-21-16 GG 

 

2 

 

incorporated by reference as if fully set out herein and on file in the Department of Health, 
Division of Community Health Services.  

 
h. Hire part-time lay outreach workers, some of them bilingual when appropriate, to conduct 

face-to face contacts with families of TennCare eligible children and perform other TennCare 
Kids and Welcome Baby related program activities in support of the approved Community 
Outreach Plan and any plan amendments. When possible, lay outreach workers should 
reflect the diversity of the population in the community. 

 
i. Attend all meetings, conference calls, and trainings provided by the State for all dedicated 

TennCare Kids Outreach staff.  
 
j. Participate in coalitions of traditional and non-traditional partners to include state agencies 

serving children.  
 
k. Conduct an annual agency meeting to promote the TennCare Kids program and local 

activities.   
 
l. Use and distribute standardized and approved TennCare Kids educational materials 

developed by the TennCare Enrollee Outreach Workgroup, Bureau of TennCare, or the    
State. 

 
A.6. Service Reporting. The Grantee shall report and maintain data for all outreach activities according 

to reporting processes specified by the State. 
 
a. Provide monitoring of performance of community outreach activities to assure that targeted 

populations are reached.  
 

b. Provide training to supervisory staff and technical assistance to both supervisory staff and lay 
outreach workers. 

 
c. Provide format and guidelines for conducting and reporting all community outreach activities. 

 
A.7.  Service Deliverables.  
 

Deliverable 
Contract 
Section 

Delivery Due 
Due to 

Whom?* 
Requested 

Format 
Submit a report describing 
appointment scheduling 
process available to the 
TENNderCare Call Center. 
Include clinic locations and 
operation hours available for 
EPSDT and/or dental 
appointments.  

A.5. a. Within 45 days of 
executed contract  

Director of 
Primary 
Prevention 
Impact 
Services 
(PPIS)  

MS Word  

Submit Regional Community 
Outreach Plan biennially 

A.5. b. Biennial- May 1 Statewide 
Community 
Outreach 
Director 
(SWCOD) 

MS Word 

Complete Annual Program 
Self- Evaluations 

A.5. c., d., e. Within 45 days post 
fiscal year end 

SWCOD MS Word 
Excel 

Review progress towards 
projected target population 
contacts and report any 

A.5. d. 10 business days priors 
to the end of each 
quarter 

SWCOD 
(deficiencies 
only) 

Email 



1-21-16 GG 

 

3 

 

 
A.8.  Service Description.  
 

The State Shall. 
  

a. Provide monitoring of performance of community outreach activities to assure that  
 targeted populations are reached.  

 
b. Provide training to supervisory staff and technical assistance to both supervisory staff  
 and lay outreach workers. 
 
c. Provide format and guidelines for conducting and reporting all community outreach  
 activities. 
 

A.9. Incorporation of Additional Documents. Each of the following documents is included as a part of 
this Grant Contract by reference or attachment. In the event of a discrepancy ambiguity regarding 
the Grantee’s duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall govern in 
order of precedence below   

  
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed  
 at subsections b. and c below); 

 
b. the Community Outreach Plan (Attachment 1). 
 
c. the TennCare Kids Program- Welcome Baby Project Guidelines (Attachment 2). 
 

A.10. Incorporation of Federal Award Identification Worksheet. The federal award identification 
worksheet is incorporated in this Grant Contract.  The Grantee shall be notified of any changes 
that shall take place during the duration of this Grant Contract. 

   
A.11.      kidcentraltn. 

 

deficiencies. 
Submit community outreach 
plan amendments as 
deemed necessary 

A.5. d. & e. Within first 18 months of 
outreach plan life 

SWCOD MS Word / 
Email 

Report activities and events 
in electronic reporting tool 

A.5. f. Within one (1) week of 
the event/ activity 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 

Reporting understaffing of 
20% or above 

A.5. g. After 45 days of 
consecutive 
understaffing 

SWCOD Phone/ Email 

Report staffing distribution in 
annual program self- 
evaluation 

A.5. h. Within 45 days post 
fiscal year end 

SWCOD MS Word 

100% regional 
representation at all 
conference calls, meetings 
and trainings. 

A.5 i. As established by the 
program 

SWCOD Phone/ In- 
Person 

Report meetings in electronic 
reporting tool 

A.5. j. & k. Within one (1) week of 
the meeting 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 

Report distribution of 
educational materials in 
electronic reporting tool 

A.5. l. Within one (1) week of 
distribution 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 



1-21-16 GG 

 

4 

 

a.         Under the guidance of their Gatekeeper, Grantee shall create and maintain an agency 
program profile in the designated state services directory located at 
www.kidcentraltn.com.   Grantee may have more than one service which is appropriate 
for the directory.  The Gatekeeper will provide instructions for which services should be 
included in the directory.  Grantee shall update its agency program profile(s) in the 
designated state services directory at least every six months.  In addition, Grantee shall 
update its agency program profile(s) within ten (10) business days of any change in 
information.   
For the purposes of this section, Gatekeeper shall be the person designated by State to  
do the following tasks:  

                         
                         (1)        invite Grantee to create a profile;  
                         (2)        review, approve, and publish program profiles created by  
   Grantee; and 
                         (3)        monitor update activity.   
 

b.          If Grantee has a website, they must link to www.kidcentraltn.com from an appropriate 
section of that website.  If Grantee would like to link to specific features of the kidcentraltn 
website such as the My Profile, Mobile App, Facebook, or State Services Directory 
features, State can provide specific copy, links, and images for those features. 
 
If Grantee uses State funds to develop or distribute materials (print or electronic) 
intended for parents, families, children, or professionals working directly with children or 
families, Grantee must place the kidcentraltn logo on those materials.  Examples of 
covered materials would include brochures, flyers, posters, and promotional postcards or 
mailers. State provides the kidcentraltn logo at the following link 
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p/. If Grantee would like to apply the full kidcentraltn brand 
to print materials such as brochures, flyers, posters, or postcards, State also provides 
those templates at the following link http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p/. 

 
            This kidcentraltn logo requirement does not apply to materials that have already been 

printed or designed.  This kidcentraltn logo requirement does not apply to materials that 
originate from the federal government, national organizations, or other groups where 
Grantee serves as a pass through of those materials.  The kidcentraltn logo should not 
be applied to individualized correspondence or individualized materials which are 
intended for a single family or professional and should not be applied to materials where 
the subject is purely administrative, such as materials about rules, sanctions, regulations, 
or enforcement.  

 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2016 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period of 

thirty-six (36) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the 
Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term. 

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed one million, forty thousands, three hundred dollars ($1,040,300) (“Maximum Liability”).  
The Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 3 is the maximum amount due the 
Grantee under this Grant Contract. The Grant Budget line-items include, but are not limited to, all 
applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 

http://www.kidcentraltn.com/
http://www.kidcentraltn.com/
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09p


1-21-16 GG 

 

5 

 

Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 4) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

Rachel Hardaway, MPA- Community Outreach Director 
Tennessee Department of Health 

 Primary Prevention Impact Services 
 Andrew Johnson Tower, 7th floor 
 710 James Robertson Parkway 

Nashville, TN 37243 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Department of Health, Primary Prevention Impact Services 
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 

i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 
expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  



1-21-16 GG 

 

6 

 

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

(4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within sixty 
(60) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than sixty (60) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items. Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget. The Grantee may move up to one percent (1%) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase. An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency. 

 
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 5). 

 
 a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the State 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
c. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

State as required by this Grant Contract shall result in the Grantee being deemed 
ineligible for reimbursement under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required 
to refund any and all payments by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the Term in such a way 

that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried forward. 
 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 



1-21-16 GG 

 

7 

 

the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following, properly completed documentation.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  By doing so, the 
Grantee acknowledges and agrees that, once this form is received by the State, all 
payments to the Grantee under this or any other grant contract will be made by 
automated clearing house (“ACH”). 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State the State-provided W-9 form.  

The taxpayer identification number on the W-9 form must be the same as the Grantee’s 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in the 
Grantee’s Edison registration information.  

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 
by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 



1-21-16 GG 

 

8 

 

satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 



1-21-16 GG 

 

9 

 

made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   
The State: 
 
Allysceaeioun Britt Spears, PhD, MPH – Director 
Tennessee Department of Health 
Primary Prevention Impact Services 
Andrew Johnson Tower 
710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, TN 37243 

 Email Address: Allysceaeioun.B.Spears@tn.gov 
Telephone #  615-741-0378 
FAX #  615-532-8669 
 

 The Grantee: 
 
Diana Kreider, Director Case Management Services 

 Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department 
 921 East Third Street 

Chattanooga, TN  37403-2146 
Email Address:  DianaK@HamiltonTN.gov 
Telephone #:  (423)209-8177 

 FAX #:  (423)209-8156 
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 
D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  



1-21-16 GG 

 

10 

 

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 

charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 
approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with applicable Tennessee law.  In no case 
shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) full years from the date of the 
final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon 
reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or their duly 
appointed representatives.   

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 



1-21-16 GG 

 

11 

 

 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
 follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
 Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at fa.audit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an attachment to the Grant Contract. 
(Attachment 6) 

 
D.19. Audit Report.  The Grantee shall be audited in accordance with applicable Tennessee law.  If the 

Grantee is subject to an audit under this provision, then the Grantee shall complete Attachment 7.  
When a federal single audit is required, the audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. A copy of the audit report shall be provided to the 
Comptroller by the licensed, independent public accountant. Audit reports shall be made available 
to the public. 

D.20. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 
materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


1-21-16 GG 

 

12 

 

comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 
upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.  “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the party except to the extent that the non-performing 
party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either party from its obligations under this Grant Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Section, any failure or delay by a party in the performance of its obligations under this Grant 
Contract arising from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Grant Contract or grounds 
for termination.  The non-performing party will be excused from performing those obligations 
directly affected by the Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event 
continues, provided that the party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume 
performance without delay.  The occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Grantee’s 
representatives, suppliers, subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Grant Contract 
is not a Force Majeure Event under this Grant Contract.  Grantee will promptly notify the State of 
any delay caused by a Force Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State 
within one (1) day of the inception of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will 
describe in reasonable detail the nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event 
results in a delay in Grantee’s performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, 
upon notice to Grantee: (a) cease payment of the fees until Grantee resumes performance of the 
affected obligations; or (b) immediately terminate this Grant Contract or any purchase order, in 
whole or in part, without further payment except for fees then due and payable.  Grantee will not 
increase its charges under this Grant Contract or charge the State any fees other than those 
provided for in this Grant Contract as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable 

registration requirements contained in Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-6-601 – 608.  Compliance with 
applicable registration requirements is a material requirement of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 



1-21-16 GG 

 

13 

 

D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 
acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension. The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or  
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 
b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of,  

or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity  

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification; and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more  

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


1-21-16 GG 

 

14 

 

public transactions (federal, state or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there          
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified.  

 
E.3.  Confidentiality of Records. Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law. All material and information, 
regardless if form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.” Nothing in this section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose and Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties. Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law. Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.   

 
 The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  
 
E.4.  Printing Authorization. The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. § 
12-7-103(d). 

 
E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke. Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years. The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises. This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present. 
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines. This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract.  

 
E.6. Discourse of Personally Identifiable Information. The Grantee shall report to the State any 

instances of unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information that come to the 
attention of the Grantee. Any such report shall be made by the Grantee within twenty-four (24) 
hours after the instance has come to the attention of the Grantee. The Grantee, at the sole 
discretion of the State, shall provide no cost credit monitoring services for individuals that are 
deemed to be part of a potential disclosure. The Grantee shall bear the cost of notification to 
individuals having personally identifiable information involved in a potential disclosure event, 
including individual letters or public notice. The remedies set forth in this section are not exclusive 
and are in addition to any claims or remedies available to the State under this Grant Contract or 
otherwise available at law. 

 
E.7.  Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA). 
 
 This Grant Contract required the Grantee to provide supplies or services that are funded in whole 

or in part by federal funds that are subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that 
all applicable FFATA requirements, including but not limited to those below, are met and that the 
Grantee provides information to the State as required.  

  
 The Grantee shall comply with the following: 
 

a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives. 
 



1-21-16 GG 

 

15 

 

(1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five most highly 
compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed fiscal year, if in the 
Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 

 
i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts and federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  

ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal procurement 
contracts (and subcontracts), and federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the 
executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 78o(d)) or § 6104 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the 
compensation information, see the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission 
total compensation filings at http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 
As defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.315, “Executive” means officers, managing partners, or any 
other employees in management positions. 
 

(2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the executive 
during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following (for more 
information see 17 CFR § 229.402(c)(2)):  
 
i. Salary and bonus.  
ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the dollar 

amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the 
fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared Based Payments.  

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not include 
group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans that do not 
discriminate in favor of executives, and are available generally to all salaried 
employees.  

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined benefit 
and actuarial pension plans.  

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax qualified.  
vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other compensation (e.g. 

severance, termination payments, value of life insurance paid on behalf of the 
employee, perquisites or property) for the executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by  

the end of the month during which this Grant Contract is established. 
 

c. If this Grant Contract is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an  
executive total compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the 
amendment to this Grant Contract becomes effective.  

 
d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and  

maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant Contract.  More information about 
obtaining DUNS Number can be found at: http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant 
Contract for which the State may terminate this Grant Contract for cause.  The State will not be 
obligated to pay any outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee 
is in full compliance with the above requirements. 

 

http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/


1-21-16 GG 

 

16 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

Rebekah Barnes,  Public Health County Director  

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

	

PURPOSE:	

To	 provide,	 in	 a	 timely	manner,	 an	 aggressive	 and	 effective	 outreach	 service	 to	 inform	 enrollees	 and	 the	 general	 public	 of	 the	 existence	 of	 services	
provided	by	the	Regional	Community	Outreach	Program,	including	the	availability	of	specific	TennCare	Kids	screening	and	treatment	services.	This	will	
be	accomplished	by	the	use	of	effective	methods	(developed	through	collaboration	with	agencies	who	have	established	procedures	for	working	with	such	
individuals)	to	inform	TennCare	Eligibles	about	the	availability	of	TennCare	Kids,	with	methods	specifically	developed	for	those	who	have	limited	reading	
proficiency,	and/or	limited	English	proficiency,	and/or	are	visually	impaired	and/or	hearing	impaired.	

REGION	OVERVIEW:	

The	Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	(CHR)	is	located	in	the	East	Grand	Division.	It	is	comprised	of	one	county,	Hamilton,	with	a	total	estimated	population	
of	336,463	(Census	website).	
	
According	 to	 the	2013	CMS	416	Report	data,	 the	 region	had	 a	 total	 of	 39,958	TennCare	Eligibles	who	were	 eligible	 for	EPSDTs	during	 the	 reporting	
period	of	October	1,	2012	through	September	30,	2013.	Hamilton	County	was	identified	to	have	a	screening	rate	of	less	than	80%.	

OUTREACH	PLAN:	

The	Regional	Community	Outreach	Program	will	 strive	 to	convey	 the	 importance	of	Early,	Periodic,	Screening,	Diagnosis,	 and	Treatment	 (EPSDTs)	 to	
TennCare	 Eligibles.	 The	 TennCare	 Kids	 message	 will	 be	 conveyed	 through	 various	 venues	 to	 all	 target	 populations/audiences.	 The	 program	 will	
distribute	TennCare	and	Tennessee	Department	of	Health	approved	materials.	Age	appropriate	incentives	will	be	used	and	distributed	during	outreach	
activities.	

	
	 	

Attachment 1



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

 
Target	Populations/Audiences	

	
Target	Populations	with	Defined		Target	Age	Groups	
Pre‐School	(PS)	–	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	newborns/infants/children	0	through	5	years	of	age.	
	
School‐age	(SC)	–	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	children	6	through	9	years	of	age.	
	
Adolescents	(AD)	‐	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	adolescents	10	through	18	years	of	age.	
	
Young	Adults	(YA)	‐	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	young	adults	19	and	20	years	of	age.	
	
Target	Populations	with	undefined	Target	Age	Groups	
Target	Population	specifications	for	outreach	event(s)/activity(ies)	with	an	unknown	or	unidentified	age	group.	
	
Special	Healthcare	Needs	(SH)	‐	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	enrollees	or	their	parents,	or	legal	guardians	who	have	special	
needs	such	as	the	visually	impaired	or	hearing	impaired.	
	
Limited	English/Reading	Proficiency	(LE)	‐	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	to	individuals,	or	parents	or	legal	guardians	of	
enrollees	who	have	limited	English	or	limited	reading	proficiency.		
	
Homeless	(HL)	‐	Community	outreach	activities	specifically	directed	at	enrollee/parents/legal	guardians	who	are	in	homeless	shelters	or	non‐traditional	
housing.	
	
Not‐Up‐to‐Date	(NU)	‐	Home	visits	specifically	directed	to	the	TennCare	enrollees	who	are	“Not‐Up‐to‐Date”	on	their	EPSDT	according	to	data	from	
TennCare.		
	
Target	Populations	with	defined	Target	Age	Groups	
Target	Population	specifications	for	all	outreach	event(s)/activity(ies)	conducted	to	populations	with	a	clearly	defined	age	group.	
	
Dental	Project	(DP)	‐	Phone	calls	or	home	visits	directed	to	persons	identified	on	the	School‐based	Dental	Prevention	Program	Priority	1	list		
(persons	in	grade	K‐8)	
	
Pregnant	Adolescent	(PA)	‐Outreach	activities	targeted	to	pregnant	teens	(persons	10	–	20	years)	

Attachment 1



 

Target Population Outreach Strategy Projected 
Contacts 
per Year 

Total 
Projected 

Contact 
2016-18 

Pre-School (0-5) Preventative health presentations in area daycare centers, Head Start programs and schools with pre-
k programming for the target population.  Include faith based organizations with nursery services in 
the outreach efforts.  Provide interactive health activities in health department clinics for the age 
group (i.e. coloring sheets, toothbrushes). Participate in Read Across America events to reach the 
target population using preventative health materials (stories, videos and songs). 

 500  1000 

School-Age (6-9)  Preventative health presentations in area schools and community centers with after school and 
summer camp attendees.  Also compile information packets containing components of well child 
exam requirements along with kidcentral website link.  Accompany health department dental 
program on school screening visits and explain dental/oral hygiene practices. Presentation topics will 
include healthy living/wellness, fitness and nutrition, stress, sleeping patterns and mental health 
(emotional development); Plan EPSDT days at schools, Head Start and Boys and Girls Club partner 
with MCO’s (Amerigroup, Blue Cross and United Healthcare) 

800 
 

 1600 

Adolescents (10-18)  Monthly health club (East Lake Academy) group already established. Goal is to expand to include an 
area high school for the upcoming year. Purpose of the club is to cover a variety of preventative, age 
appropriate health topics to increase well child exam rates for the target population. Participate in 
Youth and Family Development summer and spring camps to provide preventative health education 
to youth.  Presentation topics include but are not limited to:  Personal hygiene, HPV vaccine, family 
planning (in conjunction with Family Planning Health Educator); tobacco use and effects (2nd, 3rd  
hand smoke, E-cigarettes and chewing tobacco) 

 1500  3000 

Pregnant Adolescents  Conduct presentations with Safe Journey, Choices Matter, First things First and Reality Check. Partner 
with area middle and high schools, school guidance counselors and faith based groups who work with 
the target population. Incorporate presentations regarding preventative health, fitness/nutrition, 
well child examinations, breastfeeding/lactation services, birth spacing, safe sleep and family 
planning (partner with Family Planning Educator and A Step Ahead Foundation) 

50 100 

Young Adults (19-20)  Partner with Chattanooga State Technical Community College, University of Tennessee Chattanooga 
and other technical/vocational colleges in area promote full implementation of benefits before aging 
off program. Establish partnerships with local fast food restaurants and retailers who typically hire 
the target population and conduct mini presentations during pre-employment hiring process to cover 
information pertaining to health/wellness, fitness and nutrition, immunizations, medical homes and 
maintaining an updated medical history. 

 200  400 

TennCare Eligible  Minority Health Fair,  East Lake Celebration, school and Community based events (via local churches 
or neighborhood associations).  Presentations to specified groups as scheduled. Cover all aspects of 
well child examination.  

 1000  2000 

Limited 
English/Reading 
Proficient 

 Attend the Latino Health Fair; attend ESL classes at community resource facilities, i.e. employment 
offices, area churches and conduct information sessions for parents of limited English students in 
area schools, churches and clinics. Partner with local pastor who primarily serves the target 

 350  700 

Attachment 1

dc45457
Typewritten Text
2015 - 17 Community Outreach Plan        Chattanooga-Hamilton Region

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text



 

population. 

Children with Special 
Healthcare Needs 

Attend the annual Autism Conference; presentations will cover preventative health topics (obesity, 
diabetes, wellness, dental, safety and tobacco exposure  

 350  700 

Homeless  Participate in Project Homeless Connect, Evaluate the Point in Time counts (local aggregated data for 
homeless in Hamilton County), presentations at Welcome Home (hospice for homeless services, the 
Community Kitchen  

 800  1600 

General Public  Presentations and community events to promote program services.  Groups include community 
partners, local businesses, organizations and agencies that serve the target population.  Hosting 
agency meetings with perspective community partners will afford opportunities to share the message 
with the general public.  Attending health/employee fairs or information sessions to promote 
program message via presentations addressing health and wellness, fitness/nutrition and 
preventative health practices. 

 1000  2000 

Dental Priority 1 Conduct follow up calls to students identified via SBDPP. Assist dental clinic staff at area schools 
during dental screenings, providing dental presentations to students in grades K-8. 

 150  300 

 

Attachment 1

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text
2015-17 Community Outreach Plan     Chattanooga-Hamilton Region

dc45457
Typewritten Text



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

 
Activities	

Section:	II:	Outreach	Activities	
Community‐based		 Community	

Events/Fairs	
Activities	which	are	conducted	in	a	community	based	setting	for	a	particular	audience.	
Includes	partnership	with	community	organizations	(e.g.	housing	authority)	which	serve	a	
target	audience	(TennCare	Eligible);	shelters	which	serve	the	homeless;	activities	focused	on	
children	with	special	healthcare	needs	(e.g.	Special	Olympics);	fairs	which	focus	on	the	LEP	
population	if	activity	is	a	cultural	event	(e.g.	Hispanic	Health	Fair).	

Educational‐based Activities	conducted	to	focus	outreach	on	targeted	age‐groups:	Headstarts/Daycares (0‐5	
years),	Elementary	(6‐9	years),	Middle/High	School	(10‐18	years),	College/VoTech	(19‐20	
years).	Outreach	may	include	focus	to	special	populations	such	as	Children	with	Special	
Needs,	Homeless,	LEP,	or	PA.	

Health‐Department	
Based	

Quick	WIC	classes,	events	sponsored	by	HD,	collaboration	with	HD	programs	for	a	outreach	
with	a	special	populations	(e.g.	CSS).	

Local/Regional	Agency,	
Businesses,	
Organizations	(i.e.	Faith	
Based)	

Outreach	to	businesses	who	employ	TennCare	eligible	or	their	parents.	This	may	include	
conducting	presentations	or	delivering	educational	material	(i.e.	brochures	or	paycheck	
inserts).	Organizations:	YMCA,	YWCA,	churches,	religious	organizations.	

Medical	
providers/Institutions	

Outreach	to	local	TennCare	providers.		

Dental	Outreach	 Priority	1	 School‐based	dental	outreach.

Community	 Primary	activities	focused	on	dental	health.	Project	collaboration	with DentaQuest for	the	
targeted	counties.	

Home	Visiting	
Outreach	

Home	Visiting		 Number	of	home	visit	efforts	(attempted	and	completed)	per	target	population	(i.e.	AD,	YA).	
Note:	If	you	use	other	list(s)	to	conduct	home	visits,	you	should	record	appropriate	Disp	Code.	

Media/Newsletters	
Articles		

Media	Broadcast Sound	and/or	image	messages	transmitted	via	television	or	radio	for	the	purpose	of	sharing	
information	about	the	TENNderCare	program	or	associated	events/activities.	

Media	Published The	distribution	of	general	TennCare	Kids	program	information	which	is	printed	in	a	
community‐based	media	publication	on	a	routine	schedule.	(e.g.	local	newspaper/magazine).		

Attachment 1



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

 
Media	Other	 The	use	of	Billboards/marquees,	scrolling	billboards,	transportation	billboards,	scrolling	

website	banners	or	other	mediums	of	the	like	designed	to	carry	advertising	messages.	

Newsletter	Articles An	article	published	in	a	newsletter	that	is	distributed	to	a	specific	audience	regarding	the	
TennCare	Kids	Program	or	TennCare	Kids	outreach	event/activity	announcement	(e.g.	
School‐handbook	or	athletic	program,	employee	newsletter,	utility	company	notice,	etc.	

Newsletter		 A	newsletter	published	by	the	Regional	TENNderCare	Community	Outreach	staff	which	
contains	news	and/or	announcements	about	the	TENNderCare	program.		

Special	Projects	 Dental	Health	Month	‐
February	

Events	and	activities	celebrating	and	promoting	dental	health	awareness	during	the	month	of	
February.	

Child	Health	Week	‐
October	

Events	and	activities	celebrating	and	promoting	child	health	awareness	during	the	month	of	
October.	

Regional	Project‐X Unique	efforts	which	require	a	large	amount	of	resources	from	the	TennCare	Kids program	
and	are	held	annually	(e.g.	Health	Rock	Events)	

Outreach	in	Counties	<	
80%	

List	Name	of	County Targeted	outreach	efforts	conducted	(e.g.	EP	days	with	local	providers)	that	are	not part	of	
regular	outreach	activities	discussed	in	the	Community‐based	Section.	

Section:	III	Partnerships	and	Meetings	
Meetings	 Annual	Agency	 Annual	meeting	hosted	by	Community	Outreach	to	update	community	partners	on	current	

outreach	efforts	and	to	discuss	collaborations	in	the	coming	year.	Meetings	may	be	held	as	a	
stand	alone	or	in	conjunction	with	the	local	Community	Advisory	Board	(CAB)	or	Health	
Council.	

Coalitions	 TennCare	Kids specific	coalitions/advisory	meetings.

	

	 	

Attachment 1



 

Community Partners 

 
 
 

1.  1 N 3 Drug and Alcohol Awareness 

2.  Cancer Coalition 

3. Chattanooga Autism Center 

4.  Chattanooga Chamber of Commerce 

5.  Chambliss Children’s Home 

6. Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department  

7.  Community Kitchen 

8.  Community Advisory Board (CAB) 

9.  East Chattanooga Improvement 

10.  Family Promise 

11.  Hamilton County Schools 

12.  Homeless Coalition 

13. Hatch’s House 

14. Memorial Hospital  

15. Mental Health Cooperative 

Attachment 1

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text
2015-17 Community Outreach Plan    Chattanooga-Hamilton Region

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text



 

16. Metropolitan Ministries 

17. Partnership for Families, Children and Adults (Building  Stable Lives Program) 

18. Youth and Family Development 

19. Read 20 

20. Relative Caregiver 

21. Salvation Army 

22. Second Life Chattanooga-Human Trafficking 

23. Signal  Centers 

24. Siskin  

25. Southside and Dodson Health Centers (Erlanger) 

26. Tennessee Commission on Children and Youth 

27. Tennessee Commission on Social Work 

28. Tennessee Suicide Prevention Network 

29. Welcome Home 

 

  

Attachment 1

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text
2015-17 Community Outreach Plan     Chattanooga-Hamilton Region

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

 
PROGRAM	STAFF:	
The	Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	Community	Outreach	program	is	led	by	a	regional	Program	Manager/Director	and	two	(2)	Regional	Coordinators.		
There	are	five	(5)	part‐time	lay	workers.	
	

Regional	Community	Outreach	Director:	Charged	with	overseeing	and	assuring	regional	contribution	to	statewide	community	outreach	efforts.		
Responsibilities	include:	

• Oversee	the	development	and	implementation	of	the	regional	plan	
• Maintain,	monitor	and	analyze	regional	productivity	data	
• Oversee	implementation	of	state	mandated	best	practices	for	community	outreach	
• Serve	as	the	communication	“link”	between	Central	Office	and	regional	leadership.	
• Maintain	a	strong	line	communication	with	Central	Office		
• Provide	accurate	and	timely	reporting	on	regional	activities	to	Central	Office	
• Develop	training	for	regional	staff	
• Provide	direct	support	to	Coordinators	and	Outreach	Workers	

	
Regional	Community	Outreach	Coordinator:	Charged	with	assisting	in	the	dissemination	of	primary	prevention	education	by	engaging	
community	partners	and	providing	support	to	Regional	Directors	and	Community	Outreach	Workers.		Responsibilities	include:	

	
• Provide	direct	support	to	Regional	Directors	and	Outreach	Workers	
• Seek	out	and	maintain	relationships	with	community	partners	
• Participate	in	the	planning	of	community	events	held	by	partners	targeting	TennCare	Eligibles		
• Assist	Outreach	Workers	with	identifying	appropriate	community	outreach	activities	
• Provide	coaching	and/or	training	to	Outreach	Workers.	
• Participate	in	the	development	and	implementation	of	the	regional	plan	
• Communicate	community	issues	and	opportunities	to	Regional	Director.	

	
Regional	Community	Outreach	Lay	Worker:	Charged	with	providing	primary	prevention	education	to	TennCare	Eligibles	under	age	21(or	their	
guardians)	through	community	engagement.		Responsibilities	include:	

	
• Provide	Primary	Prevention	Education	
• Participate	in	or	host	community	events	targeting	TennCare	Eligibles	or	enrollees	and	their	families	
• Conduct	outreach	visits	to	the	home	(or	a	mutually	agreed	upon	location)	
• Provide	community	resource	education	and	referrals	as	necessary	and	appropriate	
• Accurately	document	outreach	efforts	in	accordance	with	regional	and	state	guidance	

	
	

Attachment 1



 

Regional Organizational Chart 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

  

Rebekah T. Barnes, Administrator 
Health Department 

Diana Kreider, Director 
Case Management Services 

Childhood 

Lead 

Prevention 

CSS HIV/AIDS 

Center of 

Excellence 

Community Outreach 
(Welcome Baby Initiative)  

Program Manager 

HUGS 

Program 

Newborn 

Screening 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Public Health Educator 
Lay Outreach Worker 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Public Health Educator 

Health Case Manager  

Lay Outreach Worker 

IRIS 

Program 

Attachment 1

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text
2015-17 Community Outreach Plan     Chattanooga-Hamilton Region

dc45457
Typewritten Text

dc45457
Typewritten Text



2015‐17	Community	Outreach	Plan	
Chattanooga‐Hamilton	Region	

 
REPORTING	AND	EVALUATION	
	

Reporting	
Regional	Community	Outreach	activities	will	be	entered	into	the	web‐based	survey	application	Survey	Gizmo	by	close	of	business	for	the	previous	
week.		

	
The	Regional	 Community	 Program	Director/Manager	will	 adhere	 to	 all	 activity	 reporting	 processes	 as	 outlined	 by	 the	 Statewide	 Community	
Outreach	Director.		Data	reported	in	Survey	Gizmo	will	include	the	number	of	events	and	contacts	for	the	following	events/activities	conducted	
by	the	regional	Community	Outreach	staff	and	the	number	of	approved	educational	material	distributed	during	the	events/activities	as	outlined	
in	the	current	version	of	Community	Outreach	Guidelines.	

	
	 Evaluation	

Regional	Community	Outreach	activities	will	be	evaluated	using	the	current	Community	Outreach	Evaluation	Tool	annually.	All	evaluations	will	be	
submitted	to	the	Statewide	Community	Outreach	Director.	

	
	

PLAN	REVIEW	AND	SUBMISSION		
The	Regional	Community	Outreach	Program	Director/Manager	will	 review	the	regional	plan	periodically	 to	ensure	goals	are	being	met	by	the	
region.	A	formal	annual	review	will	be	conducted	using	the	current	version	of	the	Community	Outreach	Program	Self‐Evaluation	Tool	provided	by	
the	Statewide	Community	Outreach	Director.	The	annual	review	will	 include	a	review	of	quarterly	data	reported	in	Survey	Gizmo	for	the	fiscal	
year	(July	1	‐	June	30).		

	
The	Regional	Community	Outreach	Program	Director/Manager	will	submit	the	Community	Outreach	Program	Self‐Evaluation	Tool	and	Community	
Outreach	Regional	Plan	‐Self‐Evaluation	Summary	to	the	Statewide	Community	Outreach	Director	by	the	established	deadline.	If	any	requirements	
are	not	met	during	the	fiscal	year,	an	explanation	and	plan	of	action	will	be	outlined.		

	
Any	changes	to	the	program’s	approved	regional	plan	will	be	reviewed	and	approved	regionally	prior	to	submission	to	the	Statewide	Community	
Outreach	 Director.	 The	 program	 will	 submit	 appropriate	 documents	 and	 an	 amended	 regional	 plan	 via	 email	 to	 the	 Statewide	 Community	
Outreach	Director	for	final	approval.	

	
	 	

Attachment 1



 

201
Ch

Ti

App

Ti

5‐17	Comm
hattanooga

A

Prepared	by

itle:	Regional	Co

Submiss

Regional	App

Title:	Director	C

Regional	Ap

proved	by:					……

Rache

tle:	Statewide	C

Final	Approv

munity	Out
a‐Hamilton

	
PPROVAL	

Regional	

y:	Vanessa	Mont

ommunity	Outre

ion	date:	06/23

proval	by:	Diana

Case	Managemen

pproval	date:	06

	

State	

	

……………	…………

l	Hardaway,	MPA

ommunity	Outre

val	Date:		June	3

	

treach	Plan
n	Region	

tgomery	

each	Director	

3/15	

a	Kreider	

nt	Services	

6/23/15	

……………………..	

A	

each	Director	

30,	2015	

n	

Attachment 1



Attachment 2 
TENNderCare Program 

Welcome Baby Initiative 
 Contract Guidelines  

Reviewed and Approved by Allysceaeioun Spears PhD MPH – Director  revised 2-11-16  1 
 

 

The Welcome Baby Initiative is collaboration between the Divisions of Family Health and Wellness (FHW) 
and Community Health Services (CHS), supported by the Office of Policy, Planning and Assessment. The 
project will be managed by the Primary Prevention Impact Services unit within CHS and financially 
supported by the FHW – Maternal Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) Grant. The grant 
funding was initially allocated through SFY 2016. However, additional funding has been made available 
through SFY 2017. 

Project Rationale: 

The purpose of Welcome Baby is to screen for family and child risks for infant mortality at the time of a 
child’s birth, provide timely referrals to address their needs, connect children and families with 
appropriate services in the community and to improve utilization of community resources.   Welcome 
Baby  began with an initial 30 counties identified by FHW from a 2010 county ranking assessment for the 
highest risk for infant mortality. These initial counties include 4 metropolitan areas and 26 rural counties 
(in alphabetical order):  

 

  

Beginning FY 2014, two (2) additional metropolitan areas (Knox and Sullivan) were added to the 
targeted counties. Primary focus of these two metropolitan areas are to conduct outreach to teens 
through the Teaching Teens Outstanding Parenting Skills (T-TOPS) Conference.  

Project Design: 

An initial assessment of risk and priority ranking utilizing identified data collected on the birth certificate 
is conducted of all live births. The assessment is completed by the Office of Policy, Planning and 
Assessment – Division of Health Statistics. Ranking is based on a mathematical model for predicting 
infant mortality created exclusively for the Welcome Baby and approved by the Welcome Baby 
development team.  

Each birth certificate receive a “risk” ranking of: Low, Medium, or High. All babies receive a Welcome 
Baby letter which includes information about formal resources for the new parents as identified by the 
Welcome Baby development team. Additional outreach is conducted to the parents of babies with an 
assessment ranking of Medium and High Risk. “Medium” risk babies will receive a follow-up phone call 
from the Primary Prevention Impact Services team * and “High” risk babies receive an outreach visit in 
the home from the Community Outreach lay outreach worker*.   

The outreach message will provide additional detail information discussed in the Welcome Baby letter 
and attempt to connect the family with appropriate resources as identified. 

*Welcome Baby Initiative staff and outreach activities will be 100% funded by the MIECHV Grant. 
These outreach activities will be in addition to any TENNderCare outreach activities.  

Campbell, Claiborne, Cocke, Coffee, Cumberland, Davidson, DeKalb, Dickson, Dyer, Grundy, 
Hamilton, Hardin, Haywood, Hardeman, Henderson, Johnson, Lake, Lauderdale, Lawrence, 
Madison, Marion, Maury, McMinn, Monroe, Polk, Rhea, Scott, Sequatchie, Sevier, and Shelby.  



Attachment 2 
TENNderCare Program 

Welcome Baby Initiative 
 Contract Guidelines  

Reviewed and Approved by Allysceaeioun Spears PhD MPH – Director  revised 2-11-16  2 
 

 

Project Capacity: 

The capacity for each risk group was determined by the Primary Prevention Impact Services unit based 
on current outreach activities. The projected number of contacts annually: “Low” Risk – 80,000, 
“Medium” Risk -5,000 and “High” Risk - 14,000 .   

 

Regional Responsibility: 

Regional (Rural and Metropolitan) Community Outreach Programs will be responsible for the following: 

1. Identifying and securing personnel qualified to conduct face-to-face outreach visits to families 
identified by the Community Outreach Program for the Welcome Baby Initiative. The 
number of personnel for each county will be dependent upon the ability to complete 
outreach visits within an identified time. 

2.  Conducting and reporting of outreach activities in accordance to guidelines set forth by the 
Welcome Baby development team. 

3. Monitoring Welcome Baby Initiative outreach activities including: 

a. Assignment of outreach visits. 

b. Time worked by each lay outreach worker. The number of hours worked by staff may be 
dependent upon the number of projected visits to be conducted within the county.  

c. Accuracy of travel. 

4. Monitoring Regional Welcome Baby Initiative budget. 

 

State Responsibility: 

The Primary Prevention Impact Services unit will be responsible for the following: 

1. Providing training and technical assistance to Community Outreach Program staff conducting 
Welcome Baby outreach activities this includes but not limited to supervisory staff and lay 
outreach workers. 
 

2. Providing monitoring of performance of Welcome Baby outreach activities to assure that 
targeted populations are reached. 
 

3. Providing format and guidelines for conducting and reporting Welcome Baby outreach activities. 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$597,000.00 $0.00 $597,000.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$336,900.00 $0.00 $336,900.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$38,400.00 $0.00 $38,400.00

6 Telephone
$7,300.00 $0.00 $7,300.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$800.00 $0.00 $800.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$10,500.00 $0.00 $10,500.00

10 Printing & Publications
$3,600.00 $0.00 $3,600.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$45,800.00 $0.00 $45,800.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$1,040,300.00 $0.00 $1,040,300.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans 

for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TennCare Kids Community Outreach- Summary 

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period beginning 

July 1, 2016, and ending June 30, 2019.



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$199,000.00 $0.00 $199,000.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$112,300.00 $0.00 $112,300.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$8,700.00 $0.00 $8,700.00

6 Telephone
$2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

10 Printing & Publications
$1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$334,100.00 $0.00 $334,100.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans 

for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TennCare Kids Community Outreach

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 2)

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period beginning 

July 1, 2016, and ending June 30, 2017.



SALARIES  

Longevit

AMOUNT

Ketre Commons, Public Health Educator  $   3,402.12 x 12 x 100% $40,825.44

Kamesha Good, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Latasha Lindsey, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Tammy McClintock, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,050.91 x 12 x 25.4% $6,251.17

Sonia Copeny,  $   3,014.25 x 12 x 100% +  $          600 $36,771.00

Arlisia Craig, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,050.66 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.41

Teresa Mitchell, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Vanessa Montgomery, Health Program Supervisor  $   3,921.00 x 12 x 100%  $          375 $47,427.00

Beth Simpson, Public Health Educator  $   3,502.31 x 12 x 100% +  $          675 $42,702.72

TOTAL $198,978.34 

TOTAL ROUNDED $199,000.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $4,500.00 

Meeting and Conferences $2,500.00 

TOTAL $7,000.00 

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 3)



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$12,300.00 $0.00 $12,300.00

6 Telephone
$700.00 $0.00 $700.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$24,800.00 $0.00 $24,800.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$38,000.00 $0.00 $38,000.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans 

for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TennCare Kids  Community Outreach-Welcome Baby

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 4)

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period beginning 

July 1, 2016, and ending June 30, 2017.



TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $7,750.00 

Trainings in Nashville for 3 staff $17,033.00 

TOTAL $24,783.00 

TOTAL ROUNDED $24,800.00 

ATTACHMENT 4 

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 5)



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$199,000.00 $0.00 $199,000.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$112,300.00 $0.00 $112,300.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$8,700.00 $0.00 $8,700.00

6 Telephone
$2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

10 Printing & Publications
$1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$334,100.00 $0.00 $334,100.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans 

for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 6)

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TennCare Kids Community Outreach

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period beginning 

July 1, 2017, and ending June 30, 2018.



SALARIES  

Longe

AMOUNT

Ketre Commons, Public Health Educator  $               3,402.12 x 12 x 100% $40,825.44

Kamesha Good, Lay Outreach Worker  $               2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Latasha Lindsey, Lay Outreach Worker  $               2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Tammy McClintock, Lay Outreach Worker  $               2,050.91 x 12 x 25.4% $6,251.17

Sonia Copeny,  $               3,014.25 x 12 x 100% +  $      600 $36,771.00

Arlisia Craig, Lay Outreach Worker  $               2,050.66 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.41

Teresa Mitchell, Lay Outreach Worker  $               2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Vanessa Montgomery, Health Program Supervisor  $               3,921.00 x 12 x 100%  $      375 $47,427.00

Beth Simpson, Public Health Educator  $               3,502.31 x 12 x 100% +  $      675 $42,702.72

TOTAL $198,978.34 

TOTAL ROUNDED $199,000.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $4,500.00 

Meeting and Conferences $2,500.00 

TOTAL $7,000.00 

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 7)



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$199,000.00 $0.00 $199,000.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$112,300.00 $0.00 $112,300.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$8,700.00 $0.00 $8,700.00

6 Telephone
$2,200.00 $0.00 $2,200.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$200.00 $0.00 $200.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

10 Printing & Publications
$1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$7,000.00 $0.00 $7,000.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$334,100.00 $0.00 $334,100.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans 

for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 8)

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TennCare Kids Community Outreach

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period beginning 

July 1, 2018, and ending June 30, 2019.



SALARIES  

Lon

AMOUNT

Ketre Commons, Public Health Educator  $  3,402.12 x 12 x 100% $40,825.44

Kamesha Good, Lay Outreach Worker  $  2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Latasha Lindsey, Lay Outreach Worker  $  2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Tammy McClintock, Lay Outreach Worker  $  2,050.91 x 12 x 25.4% $6,251.17

Sonia Copeny,  $  3,014.25 x 12 x 100% +  $ 600 $36,771.00

Arlisia Craig, Lay Outreach Worker  $  2,050.66 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.41

Teresa Mitchell, Lay Outreach Worker  $  2,050.59 x 12 x 25.4% $6,250.20

Vanessa Montgomery, Health Program 

Supervisor

 $  3,921.00 x 12 x 100%  $ 375 $47,427.00

Beth Simpson, Public Health Educator  $  3,502.31 x 12 x 100% +  $ 675 $42,702.72

TOTAL $198,978.34 

TOTAL ROUNDED $199,000.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $4,500.00 

Meeting and Conferences $2,500.00 

TOTAL $7,000.00 

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 9)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER 

INVOICE DATE 

INVOICE PERIOD 
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD 
FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   11

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes
above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services
accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment 
is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 4

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Indirect Cost

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel

Capital Purchase

Depreciation

Interest

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings

Occupancy

Equipment Rental & Maintenance

Telephone

Postage & Shipping

Professional Fee/Grant & Award

Supplies

BUDGET

Benefits

(B)

Salaries

DUE

TOTAL

CONTRACT

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   
Tennessee Department of Health

STATE OF TENNESSEE
INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE) 



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction
Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to:
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:

Attachment 5

dc45418
Typewritten Text
Janice Moore					Telephone:	615-532-7767Tennessee Department of Health		FAX	615-741-9533Fiscal Services					6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower 					710 James Robertson Parkway					Nashville, TN 37243					

dc45418
Typewritten Text
janice.e.moore@tn.gov		



PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 5



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 5



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 5



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 5



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 5



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 5



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at: http://tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 5

http://tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health
Funding Information Summary

Attachment 5



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)
a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 5



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 5



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL
Schedule A Year-To-Date Information
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)
a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 5



           Attachment 6 

 

Annual (Final) Report* 

 

1.  Grantee Name: 

2.  Grant Contract Edison Number: 

3.  Grant Term: 

4.  Grant Amount: 

5.  Narrative Performance Details: (Description of program goals, outcomes, successes and setbacks, 

benchmarks or indicators used to determine progress, any activities that were not completed) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submit one copy to:  

Allysceaeioun B. Spears, PHD, MPH | Director Primary Prevention Impact Services 

John D. Dreyzehner, MD, MPH, FCOEM, Commissioner, TN Department of Health; and 

fa.audit@tn.gov,  TN Department of Finance and Administration 

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


9-14-15 GG 

 

ATTACHMENT 7 
 

Parent Child Information 
 

Send completed documents as a PDF file to cpo.auditnotice@tn.gov.  The Grantee should submit only 
one, completed “Parent Child Information” document to the State during the Grantee’s fiscal year 
if the Grantee indicates it is subject to an audit on the “Notice of Audit Report” document. 
 
“Parent” means an entity whose IRS filing contains the information of at least one other entity. 
 
“Child” means an entity whose information is contained in another entity’s IRS filing. 
 
Grantee’s Edison Vendor ID number:  
 
Is Grantee Legal Entity Name a parent?  Yes  No 
 
If yes, provide the name and Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable, of any child entities.  
 
Is Grantee Legal Entity Name a child?  Yes  No  
 
If yes, complete the fields below. 
 
Parent entity’s name: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s tax identification number: ____________________________________________ 
 
Note: If the parent entity’s tax identification number is a social security number, this form 
must be submitted via US mail to: 

 
Central Procurement Office, Grants Program Manager 

3rd Floor, WRS Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L Parks Avenue 

Nashville, TN 37243 
Parent entity’s contact information 
  
 Name of primary contact person: ____________________________________________ 
  
 Address: _______________________________________________________________ 
  
 Phone number: _________________________________________________________ 
  
 Email address: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable: ________________________________  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:cpo.auditnotice@tn.gov


No. 516-41 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUED SUBCONTRACT AGREEMENTS WITH 
THE PARTNERSHIP FOR FAMILIES, CHILDREN AND ADULTS, INC. AND SIGNAL CENTERS, INC. 
BEGINNING JULY 1, 2016 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2017, TO PROVIDE TITLE XX SOCIAL SERVICES 
FOR ELIGIBLE INDIVIDUALS AND FAMILIES AMOUNTING TO $338,037.00. 
  
WHEREAS, Hamilton County subcontracts with Partnership for Families, Children, and Adults, Inc., to 

provide homemaker services and with Signal Centers, Inc. to provide adult day care 
services for eligible individuals; and, 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title XX of the Social Security Act, the Tennessee Department of Human 

Services (TDHS) is entering into a contractual agreement with Hamilton County for social 
services as prescribed by the Tennessee Comprehensive Annual Plan for persons who meet 
the eligibility requirements; and, 

 
WHEREAS, funding for the period July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017, is as follows: 
 

 

STATE COUNTY TOTAL
Partnership 183,359.00 45,840.00 229,199.00
Signal Centers 87,070.00 21,768.00 108,838.00

TOTALS 270,430.00 67,607.00 338,037.00 ; and, 
 
WHEREAS, TDHS has agreed to provide $270,430.00, and Hamilton County will provide local funds in 

the amount of $67,607.00, these revenue and expenses currently budgeted. 
   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 

That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to continue agreements (copies available upon request) between 
Hamilton County and Partnership for Families, Children, and Adults, Inc., and Signal Centers, Inc. to provide 
social services for eligible individuals and families pursuant to Title XX of the Social Security Act, and to 
provide $270,430.00 from TDHS and $67,607.00 previously budgeted in the Emergency Services 
Department. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 

































































































No. 516-42 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A 
CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $312,900.00 TO PROVIDE TUBERCULOSIS CONTROLS SERVICES  IN 
HAMILTON COUNTY FOR A TIME PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017.  
 
WHEREAS, Tuberculosis disease continues to be a public health threat in Hamilton 

County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, appropriate and timely diagnosis, treatment and contact identification and 

preventive treatment has been proven to be an effective means of controlling 
the disease; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department provides this service to 

persons in Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the Tennessee Department of Health provides funding to support this service. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract in the 
amount of $312,900.00 for the provision of Tuberculosis prevention and 
control services for the residents of Hamilton County.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















































No. 516-43 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF INDUS INTERNATIONAL, INC. FOR ONE (1) 
LARGE PLANETARY BOOK SCANNER AMOUNTING TO $31,010.00 FOR THE MICROFILM 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) large planetary 

book scanner for the Microfilm Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Indus International, Inc. amounting to $31,010.00 was considered to be 

the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Indus International, Inc. for one (1) large planetary book scanner amounting to 
$31,010.00 for the Microfilm Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























No. 516-44 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CISCO EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING 
TO $49,129.04 FROM POMEROY IT SOLUTIONS SALES COMPANY, INC. FROM THE 
STATE CONTRACT FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Pomeroy IT Solutions Sales Company, Inc. for Cisco 

network hardware equipment for the Health Department network upgrade from 
the State Contract/SWC-385 amounts to $49,129.04 for the Information 
Technology Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the amount of $49,129.04 is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the purchase of Cisco equipment for the Information Technology Department amounting 
to $49,129.04 from Pomeroy IT Solutions Sales Company, Inc. from the State Contract is 
hereby approved, being the best and most economical source, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





No. 516-45 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF INTEGRATED NETWORKING TECHNOLOGIES, 
LLC dba INTEC, CONVERGINT TECHNOLOGIES, AND CENTRAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR AVIGILON CAMERA EQUIPMENT FOR THE PERIOD 
OF MAY 18, 2016, THROUGH MAY 17, 2017, FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for 

Avigilon Camera Equipment for the Telecommunications Department; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the bids from Integrated Networking Technologies, LLC dba INTEC, Convergint 
Technologies, and Central Technologies, Inc. were considered to be the lowest and 
best bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

  That the bids of Integrated Networking Technologies, LLC dba INTEC, Convergint Technologies, and 
Central Technologies, Inc. for contract unit pricing for Avigilon Camera Equipment for the period of 
May 18, 2016, through May 17, 2017, for the Telecommunications Department are hereby accepted, 
said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any 
contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















































No. 516-46 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 18, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF APRIL 1, 2016, THROUGH APRIL 30, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between April 1, 2016, through April 30, 2016.  
 
 April 11, 2016, $10,890.89 for 8,005 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.360511 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
 
 April 13, 2016, $12,129.17 for 8,489 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.42881 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 April 19, 2016, $9,549.31 for 7,475 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.2775 per gallon from 

Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 April 22, 2016, $1,839.40 for 1,000 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.8394 per 

gallon from Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
  
 April 26, 2016, $11,977.54 for 8,023 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.4929 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 April 27, 2016, $12,326.26 for 7,973 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.5460 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
  
 April 28, 2016, $1,379.89 for 708 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.9490 per 

gallon from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
  
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 



 

 

That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 18, 2016 

  
Date 

 






	5-18-16 Public Agenda
	516-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - April 27, 2016 _2298_04-27-16 Recessed
	516-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - April 27, 2016 _2299_04-27-16 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	516-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - May 4, 2016 _2304_05-04-16 Regular
	516-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerk's Report December 2015 - January and February 2016_2279_Juvenile Court Clerk Report December January and February 2016
	516-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon May 9, 2016_2291_Order of Designation Planning Commission Todd Leamon 5 9 16
	516-23_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2302_05-18-16
	516-23_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2302_05-18-16A
	516-24_R_Appointment(s)_Sheriffs Civil Service Advisory Board_2180_William Pippin-CERP
	516-25_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Ooltewah Middle School_2282_Comm Bankston OMS
	516-26_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Chattanooga Inner City Youth Association_2277_Comm Mackey Inner City Youth
	516-26_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Chattanooga Inner City Youth Association_2277_1731_001
	516-27_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Orchard Knob Neighborhood Watch Association_2278_Comm Mackey Orchard Knob NWA
	516-27_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Orchard Knob Neighborhood Watch Association_2278_1732_001
	516-28_R_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation for East Hamilton Middle High School_2306_CommSmedley E Hamilton
	516-29_R_Commissioner Haynes_Appropriation for Big Ridge Elementary School_2307_CommHaynesBigRidge
	516-30_R_Larry Henry_Juror Parking_2294_RES ADJUSTING RATES FOR JURY PARKING FOR LARRY HENRY - 5-18-2016
	516-30_S_Larry Henry_Juror Parking_2294_2247_001
	516-31_R_Todd Leamon_Sale of property at Enterprise South Industrial Park for company expansion_2301_Res. Tag Manufacturing Inc.
	516-31_S_Todd Leamon_Sale of property at Enterprise South Industrial Park for company expansion_2301_Tag Res. Attachments
	516-32_R_Todd Leamon_Daisy Elementary Access Road_2303_RES. DAISY ELEMENTARY ACCESS ROAD
	516-32_S_Todd Leamon_Daisy Elementary Access Road_2303_Daisy Elementary Access Road
	516-33_R_Justin Witt_School Furnishings_2283_RES. SCHOOL FURNISHINGS FOR MIDDLE VALLEN NOLAN WOLFTEVER ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS
	516-33_S_Justin Witt_School Furnishings_2283_School Furnishings
	516-34_R_Albert Kiser_Apogee Sound System for Middle Valley Elementary_2297_RES. APOGEE SOUND SYSTEM FOR MIDDLE VALLEY ELEMENTARY
	516-34_S_Albert Kiser_Apogee Sound System for Middle Valley Elementary_2297_Apogee for Middle Valley Elementary
	516-35_R_Zoning_Zoning_2284_057
	516-35_S_Zoning_Zoning_2284_057
	516-36A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2285_058A
	516-36A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2285_058
	516-36B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2286_58 B
	516-36B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2286_058
	516-37_R_Zoning_Zoning_2287_059
	516-37_S_Zoning_Zoning_2287_059
	516-38_R_Sheriff Hammond_Glock Guns_2271_RES. GLOCK GUNS
	516-38_S_Sheriff Hammond_Glock Guns_2271_Glock Guns State Contract
	516-39_R_Todd Leamon_Articulating Crane System_2296_RES. ARTICULATING CRANE SYSTEM
	516-39_S_Todd Leamon_Articulating Crane System_2296_Articulating Crane System
	516-40_R_Becky Barnes_TENNderCare Outreach Program Services_2288_CERP For TENNderCare 2016 - 19
	516-40_S_Becky Barnes_TENNderCare Outreach Program Services_2288_34360-33817 Chatt Ham GG TNCare Kids sig 4-20-19
	516-41_R_Becky Barnes_Continuous contract agreement for Adult Services and Homemaker Services_2289_Resolution Parternship and Signal Centers 2017
	516-41_S_Becky Barnes_Continuous contract agreement for Adult Services and Homemaker Services_2289_Adult Day Care Contract 2017
	516-41_S_Becky Barnes_Continuous contract agreement for Adult Services and Homemaker Services_2289_Homemaker Services Contract 2017
	516-41_S_Becky Barnes_Continuous contract agreement for Adult Services and Homemaker Services_2289_MOU Adult Day Care 2017
	516-41_S_Becky Barnes_Continuous contract agreement for Adult Services and Homemaker Services_2289_MOU Homemaker Services 2017
	516-42_R_Becky Barnes_Tuberculosis Control Services_2290_Resolution TB Control 2017
	516-42_S_Becky Barnes_Tuberculosis Control Services_2290_TB Contract 2016-17
	516-43_R_Lee Brouner_Large Planetary Book Scanner_2275_RES. LARGE PLANETARY BOOK SCANNER
	516-43_S_Lee Brouner_Large Planetary Book Scanner_2275_Large Planetary Book Scanner
	516-44_R_Albert Kiser_Cisco Equipment_2293_RES. CISCO EQUIPMENT
	516-44_S_Albert Kiser_Cisco Equipment_2293_Cisco Equipment
	516-45_R_Albert Kiser_Aviligion Camera Equipment Contract_2300_RES. AVILIGION CAMERA EQUIPMENT
	516-45_S_Albert Kiser_Aviligion Camera Equipment Contract_2300_Avigilon Camera Equipment
	516-46_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel April 2016_2305_Fuel Resolution April 2016
	516-46_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel April 2016_2305_April docs



